PERCEPTIONS OF ATHLETIC TRAINERS AND ATHLETIC DIRECTORS REGARDING THE PURPOSE, EFFECTIVENESS, AND NECESSITY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS MANDATED ANABOLIC STEROID TESTING OF HIGH SCHOOL ATHLETES

THESIS

Presented to the Graduate Council of Texas State University-San Marcos in Partial Fulfillments of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of SCIENCE

by

Kristina L. Creinin, B.S., ATC, LAT, CES

San Marcos, Texas May 2012

COPYRIGHT

by

Kristina Lynn Creinin

2012

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgment. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Kristina L. Creinin, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my grandmother, Dr. Carol Wilson, for her inspiration and support every step of the way. I would also like to thank my father, Arnie Creinin, for his belief in me. My boyfriend, Luke Steele, offered his love and support throughout this entire process. I would like to thank my committee, Dr. Jacquelyn McDonald and Dr. Stephen Awoniyi, whose guidance and support have been invaluable to me. Also, thank you to my committee chair, Dr. Luzita Vela, without whom I would not have been able to complete this endeavor. Thank you to the faculty of the Graduate Athletic Training Program at Texas State University-San Marcos. I would like to also thank the athletic training staff at Jack C. Hays High School, Mark Winter and Betsy Russell, for their mentorship over these last two years. Thank you Betsy for giving me the idea to get this project started.

This manuscript was submitted on March 28, 2012.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Purpose	4
Research Questions	4
Operational Definitions	5
Delimitations	6
Limitations	6
Assumptions	7
Significance of the Study	7
References	9
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	12
Anabolic Steroid Use Patterns and Risk Factors	13
Anabolic Steroid Use Side Effects	15
History of Anabolic Steroid Testing	16
History of Senate Bill 8	17
Purpose and Necessity of Anabolic Steroid Testing	20
The Role of State Policy	22
Drug Testing Protocol	23
The Role of the University Interscholastic League	24
Impact of Media on Health Care Legislation	25
Perceptions	27
Conclusion	28
References	30
III. METHODS	34
Participants	34
Instrument	

Data Collection	37
Statistical Analysis	
References	
IV. MANUSCRIPT	40
Introduction	40
Methods	43
Results	46
Discussion	48
Conclusion	53
References	55
APPENDIX A: ATHLETIC DIRECTORS' COVER LETTER	64
APPENDIX B: ATHLETIC TRAINERS' COVER LETTER	66
APPENDIX C: ATHLETIC DIRECTORS' SURVEY	68
APPENDIX D. ATHI ETIC TRAINERS' SHRVEV	74

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Table of Specifications	36
2. Participant Characteristics	59
3. Endorsed Beliefs Regarding the Primary Purpose of State Mandated Anabolic Steroid Testing in all UIL Sanctioned Interscholastic Athletes	60
4. Endorsed Beliefs of the Legislative Intent for State Mandated Anabolic Steroid Testing in all UIL Sanctioned Interscholastic Athletes	60
5. Endorsed Beliefs of the Effectiveness of Anabolic Steroid Prevention Education Programs at Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use Amongst UIL Student Athletes	60
6. Endorsed Beliefs of the Effectiveness of Anabolic Steroid Testing at Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use Amongst UIL Student Athletes	61
7. Endorsed Beliefs of Anabolic Steroid Use as a Problem Among High School Athletes	61
8. Endorsed Beliefs of Senate Bill 8	62
9. Beliefs Regarding Methods for Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use	62
10. Beliefs Regarding Responsibility for Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use	63

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Adolescent populations are at a greater health risk for anabolic steroid use when compared to an adult population.¹ The increased risk of anabolic steroid use in adolescent athletes may explain why concerns regarding anabolic steroid use in high school athletes has increased significantly over the last few decades.^{2,3} Within the state of Texas, the issue came to the forefront with the passing of Senate Bill 8 in 2007, which in turn changed the Texas Education Code by adding section §33.091.^{4,5} This bill mandated random anabolic steroid testing of all high school athletes as well as anabolic steroid education programs for all persons coaching students in grades 7-12.

The rate of anabolic steroid use has been shown to be equal in non-athletes as well as athletes. ^{1,6,7} While the risk appears to be the same, the rationale for anabolic steroid use differs between the two groups. Athletes take anabolic steroids for performance enhancing reasons, while non-athletes seem to be seeking appearance improvement. More significant risk factors that predict anabolic steroid use can include a history of other drug/alcohol use and gender. Persons who have a previous history of drug and alcohol use have a higher risk of anabolic steroid use, ^{1,7-10} and men are at a much higher risk for abusing anabolic steroids than women. ^{1,7-9,11-13}

The side effects of anabolic steroids on a teenager can be detrimental. Physical side effects can include acne, high cholesterol, liver damage, high blood pressure, and

renal failure. ^{10,14,15} Psychologically, users can experience aggressiveness, mood swings, euphoria, irritability, psychosis, depression, and hypomania¹.

Anabolic steroid prevention took form in 1970 when the National Collegiate

Athletic Association (NCAA) created their Drug Education Committee. Stemming from
this program, the NCAA began the drug-testing program in 1986. With similar concern
of anabolic steroid use growing in the state of Texas in the 2000s, the state passed a bill
in 2007 to begin the random drug testing of high schools athletes governed by the
University Interscholastic League (UIL). The UIL governs all of athletics, as well as
band, musical competitions, academic competitions, theatre and debate. Although the
UIL governs all of these activities, only those students classified under athletics are
subject to random anabolic steroid testing.

The stated purpose of the state mandated anabolic steroid testing was the prevention of the use of illegal anabolic steroids. ¹⁸ At the time, Lt. Governor David Dewhurst identified anabolic steroid testing as a major component of his campaign surrounding children's safety. Also, Don Hooton, whose son Taylor committed suicide in 2003 from what was believed to be a side effect of anabolic steroid use, established the Taylor Hooton foundation to educate about drug use and testified in support of Senate Bill 8. ¹⁹ According to interviews conducted by the *Austin-American Statesman*, those who supported the bill believed it was the only way to solve the growing anabolic steroid problem. ²⁰ People against the bill believed that the state of Texas was overreacting to a problem that did not truly exist, especially in smaller schools. ²⁰ Testing began in the fall of 2007, and the results have varied between 0-0.00064% of athletes testing positive during any given semester ²¹ while costing taxpayers around \$4,000,000 dollars per year

according to a fiscal note from the 80th Legislative Session.²² However, Senate Bill 8 did call for funding to be reexamined as needed. Currently, the annual budget is down to \$750,000.²³ Given the low number of positive test results²¹ and no previous data on the prevalence of anabolic steroid use in Texas, it is impossible to know whether the anabolic steroid testing program is a useful deterrent or whether anabolic steroid use was even an existing problem.

Generally speaking, there are two rationales provided to justify anabolic steroid testing: 1) health and safety and 2) fair play. The UIL anabolic steroid testing was proposed as a deterrent to anabolic steroid use. However, it is unclear whether the objective was to deter anabolic steroid use for athletes to promote fair play or as a means of ensuring health and safety. If the purpose of anabolic steroid testing is fair play, then testing only students involved in athletics seems appropriate. If attempting to ensure the health and safety of all students, then all students should be subjected to the same measures regardless of athletic participation.

Other states including Florida and New Jersey have mandated anabolic steroid testing only to later discontinue the program due to low positive test rates.²⁴ In addition, some preliminary research has shown that mandatory anabolic steroid testing does not decrease anabolic steroid use in adolescents, and that random anabolic steroid testing may actually lead to and increase future drug abuse.^{25,26} Although the positive test rates and financial impact associated with mandatory anabolic steroid testing in Texas has been documented, little information is known about the perceptions of key personnel in charge of enforcing anabolic steroid testing about the program. In particular, perceptions

regarding the perceived purpose and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing can provide information to lawmakers to make informed decisions about changes to SB 8.

Purpose

The purpose of this study is to determine the perceptions of athletic directors and athletic trainers regarding the purpose and effectiveness of the Texas UTL anabolic steroid testing policy. The perceived purpose will be examined from two overarching rationales commonly used to substantiate drug testing policies: 1) the health and safety of the athlete and 2) the fair play ideal. The perceived effectiveness of anabolic steroid testing and anabolic steroid education programs will also be examined and the perceived necessity of anabolic steroid testing will be analyzed. I will also analyze the perceived necessity of the involvement of the state of Texas legislature in creating policy to mandate anabolic steroid testing. Demographic variables will be assessed to note response trends by athletic directors and athletic trainers.

Research Questions

- 1. What are the perceptions of athletic directors and athletic trainers regarding the purpose of UIL anabolic steroid testing?
- 2. Do athletic trainers and athletic directors believe that the Texas mandatory anabolic steroid testing program is effective in carrying out its expressed mission?
- 3. Do athletic trainers and athletic directors believe that state mandated anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes is necessary?

4. Do athletic trainers and athletic directors believe that legislative involvement in high school athletics anabolic steroid prevention is necessary?

Operational Definitions

- 1. UIL is defined as the University Interscholastic League, the governing body of Texas high school extracurricular competitions.²⁷
- 2. Anabolic steroids are defined as derivatives of testosterone, the male sex hormone, that increase muscle mass. 11,28,29
- 3. The UIL anabolic steroid testing program is defined as the mandatory, random drug testing of all UIL athletes, regardless of gender, sport, or participation level. Anabolic steroid testing was mandated by Senate Bill 8 of the 80th Regular Session of the Texas Legislature.^{6,30}
- 4. Athletics is defined as any sport which is governed by the UIL, including baseball, basketball, cross country, football, golf, soccer, softball, swimming and diving, team tennis, track and field, volleyball, and wrestling.³¹
- 5. Health and safety is defined as the systematic protection of high school athletes from unnecessary injury or illness.³²
- 6. Fair play is defined as playing in a way that shows good sport, or ensuring that everyone participates equally and impartially. The rules for each sport vary, so fair play varies from competition to competition. It also includes a level playing field, which ensures that each competitor follows the same rules.³³ Each participant must follow the same rules to ensure that competitions is fair.³⁴

- 7. Deterrent is defined as any given method that effectively prevents the use of illegal anabolic steroids.⁴
- 8. Athletic director for the purpose of this article is defined as either an athletic director or an athletic coordinator who oversees the athletics department of one or more high schools.
- 9. Athletic trainer is defined as a recognized allied health professional that collaborates with physicians to "optimize activity and participation of patients and clients." ³⁵
- 10. Non-athlete is defined as any student who is not on a roster for a UIL sanctioned sports team at their respective high school.
- 11. Athlete is defined as any student who is currently on a roster for a UIL sanctioned sports team at their respective high school.

Delimitations

- 1. The study will only include high schools within the state of Texas that are governed by the UIL.
- 2. Only respondents with valid, retrievable email addresses will be surveyed.
- 3. Athletic directors surveyed must be listed in the 2011-2012 Texas Sports Guide of High Schools and Colleges with correct contact information.

Limitations

1. Athletic trainers surveyed will include all certified and/or licensed athletic trainers within the state of Texas who are members of the National Athletic Trainers Association

(NATA). This is limited by access to contact information, which will be received from the NATA database.

2. This survey will only gather perceptions of athletic trainers and athletic directors and can only be generalized to those two populations.

Assumptions

- 1. It is assumed that subjects are honest and truthful when answering the surveys.
- 2. It is assumed that the 2011-2012 Texas Sports Guide of High Schools and Colleges contains the correct and up to date contact information for athletic directors throughout the state of Texas.
- 3. It is assumed that the questions within the survey are clear and concise for the subject who is responding.
- 4. It is assumed that the athletic trainers and athletic directors are the actual respondents of this survey.
- 5. It is assumed that the random sample of participants will have the same beliefs of those in the desired population.
- 6. It is assumed that the survey response rate will exceed 25% in both the athletic trainers and athletic directors group.

Significance of the Study

Attention to anabolic steroid use among high school athletes has increased for a variety of reasons over the last few decades. The state of Texas attempted to limit these concerns by implementing random anabolic steroid testing throughout the state for every

high school athlete. Included in this legislation was also a mandate that all coaches of grades 7-12 go through some type of anabolic steroid education class. While these attempts at deterring anabolic steroid use may seem appropriate, they can also become costly. In addition the success of the program has been questioned given the low numbers of positive tests. The UIL must test 30% of high schools per year, with the sample being distributed across school size. In 2007, the annual budget for this program was \$4 million. There were two positive tests that year. Currently, the annual budget is down to \$750,000 with only one positive test reported in 2011. The cost per positive test tends to range between \$750,000 and \$2 million.

Senate Bill 8 defined the purpose of mandatory drug testing for athletes participating in UIL athletics as the prevention of the use of illegal anabolic steroids. However, the perceptions of the purpose and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing from the institutional perspective has not been examined. This study is an attempt to understand the perceived purpose and effectiveness of this testing protocol from the persons most involved with its implementation within the schools, athletic trainers and athletic directors. This study is the first step in understanding the beliefs and dynamics of mandatory drug testing policy from the perspectives of high school personnel. This information in addition to other factors (cost, effectiveness, practicality) can be helpful in informing the public and legislature about the success of the policy. If athletic trainers and athletic directors believe that anabolic steroid testing is not effective or necessary, than this information can effect reexamination of funding that is called for by SB 8.

References

- 1. Thorlindsson T, Halldorsson V. Sport, and the use of anabolic androgenic steroids among Icelandic high school students: a critical test of three perspectives. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy.* 2010;5(32):1-11.
- 2. Johnson MD, Jay MS, Shoup B, Rickert VI. Anabolic steroid use by male adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 1989;83(6):921-924.
- 3. Kleiner SM. Performance-enhancing aids in sport; health consequences and nutritional alternatives. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 1991;10(2):163-176.
- 4. House Research Organization bill analysis. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 21, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 5. Texas Education Code. http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/ED/htm/ED.33.htm. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 6. Naylor AH, Gardner D, Zaichkowsky L. Drug use patterns among high school athletes and non athletes. *Adolescence*. 2001;36(144): 627-639.
- 7. Miller KE, Hoffman JH, Barnes GM, Sabo D, Melnick MJ, Farrell MP. Adolescent anabolic steroid use, gender, physical activity, and other problem behaviors. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2005;40:1637-1657.
- 8. Irving LM, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M. Steroid use among adolescents findings from project EAT. *J Adolesc Health.* 2002;30:243-252.
- 9. Denham BE. Association between narcotic use and anabolic-androgenic steroid use among American adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2009;44:2043-2061.
- 10. Gruber AJ, Pope HG. Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolic-androgenic steroid use in women. *Psychother Psychosom.* 2000;69(1):19-26.
- 11. Pallesen S, Josendal O, Johnsen BH, Larsen S, Molde H. Anabolic steroid use in high school students. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2006;41:1705-1717.
- 12. Gaa GL, Griffith EH, Cahill BR, Leslye DT. Prevalence of anabolic steroid use among Illinois high school students. *J Athl Train.* 1996;4(3):216-222.
- 13. Dodge TL, Jaccard JJ. The effect of high school sports participation on the use of performance-enhancing substances in young adulthood. *J Adolesc Health*. 2006;39:367-373.

- 14. Kennedy MC, Lawrence C. Anabolic steroid abuse and cardiac death. *Med J Aust*. 1993;158(5):346-348.
- 15. Brower KJ, Blow FC, Beresford TP, Feulling C. Anabolic-androgenic steroid dependence. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 1989;50(1):31-33.
- 16. Key dates in NCAA drug-testing history. NCAA News Archives. http://fs.ncaa.org/Docs/NCAANewsArchive/2006/Association-wide/Key%2Bdates%2Bin%2Bncaa%2Bdrug-testing%2Bhistory%2B-%2B11-20-06%2Bncaa%2Bnews.html, Updated November 21, 2006. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 17. www.uiltexas.org/academics. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 18. SB 8, 80th Leg, Reg Sess (Tx 2007).
- 19. Texas may test for steroids in high school. *CBS News*. http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2007/05/29/health/main2861011.shtml?source=RSSattr=Health 2861011. Updated February 11, 2009. Accessed October 5, 2011.
- 20. Cantu R. Senate passes steroid testing bill for Texas high schools: Measure would call for random testing to begin as early as this fall. http://statesman.com/news/content/region/legislature/stories/04/11/11steroids.html. Updated April 11, 2007. Accessed September 19, 2011.
- 21. www.uiltexas.org/health/info. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 22. Fiscal Note, 80th Legislative Regular Session. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 26, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 23. Vertuno J. Steroid testing survives budget cuts. *KXAN.com*. Updated May 23, 2011. http://www.kxan.com/dpp/sports/steriod-testing-survives-budget-cuts. Accessed April 3, 2012.
- 24. Lemire J. The screening process: A guide to testing policies, from pros to high school. *SI.com*. http://sportsillustrated.cnn.com/2008/magazine/03/11/steroid.testingpolicies/index.html. Updated March 11, 2008. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 25. Goldberg L, Elliot DL, MacKinnon DP, Moe EL, Kuehl KS, Yoon M, Taylor A, Williams J. Outcomes of a prospective trial of student-athlete drug testing: The student athlete testing using random notification (SATURN) study. *J Adolesc Health*. 2007;41:421-429.
- 26. Yamaguchi R, Johnston LD, O'Malley PM. Relationship between student illicit drug use and school drug-testing policies. *J Sch Health*. 2003;73(4):159-164.

- 27. www.uiltexas.org/about. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 28. Johnson MD. Anabolic steroid use in adolescent athletes. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 1990;37(5):1111-1123.
- 29. Bahrke MS, Yesalis CE, Brower KJ. Anabolic-androgenic steroid abuse and performance-enhancing drugs among adolescents. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* 1998;7(4):821-838.
- 30. www.uiltexas.org/steroid-info. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 31. www.uiltexas.org/athletics/sports. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 32. www.uiltexas.org. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 33. Rules and regulations. *BBC Ethics Guide*. http://www.bbc.co.uk/ethics/sport/fair/fairplay.shtml. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 34. Morgan WJ. Fair is fair, or is it?: A moral consideration of the doping wars in American sport. Sport in Society. 2006;9(2):177-198.
- 35. Athletic Training. *National Athletic Trainers' Association*. http://www.nata.org/athletic-training. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 36. No cheaters in latest HS steroid tests. *KXAN.com*. Updated July 29, 2010. http://www.kxan.com/dpp/news/local/no-cheaters-in-latest-hs-steroid-tests. Accessed April 3, 2012.
- 37. Vertuno J. Steroid testing survives budget cuts. *KXAN.com*. Updated May 23, 2011. http://www.kxan.com/dpp/sports/steriod-testing-survives-budget-cuts. Accessed April 3, 2012.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Anabolic steroid use among high school athletes has been a growing concern over the last few decades. 1,2 The first study examining the knowledge of adolescents regarding the risks of abusing anabolic steroids was conducted in 1995 and showed that 2.9% of adolescents had used anabolic steroids and that those who used anabolic steroids were less educated about the possible side effects than non-users.³ Anabolic steroids have many negative effects that include aggression, mood swings, social, psychological and physiological problems. These problems can be more severe in teenagers and adolescents. A Research regarding the side-effects of anabolic steroid use had led the University Interscholastic League (UIL), the governing board of Texas high school athletics, to institute random drug testing among all Texas high schools as mandated by state law in Senate Bill 8, 80th Regular Session of the Texas Legislature. 5 While anabolic steroid testing has been required in the NCAA since 1986, it is rare at the high school level and new to the UIL since 2007. This review will examine risk factors and patterns of anabolic steroid use, as well as the side effects. The history of drug testing, the purpose and effectiveness of drug testing, the role of state policy, the role of the UIL, and general perceptions will also be examined.

Anabolic Steroid Use Patterns and Risk Factors

Multiple studies have found that non-athletes are just as likely as athletes to use anabolic steroids. ^{4,6,7} The two subgroups differ in their reasons for using anabolic steroids, though. Athletes typically use anabolic steroids for performance enhancing purposes while non-athletes use anabolic steroids for image improvement. ¹ In addition, males are at higher risk for using anabolic steroids when compared to females. ^{4,7-12}

Anabolic steroid use does follow an established pattern based on some identified risk factor. These can include athletic status, acquaintances, gender and other drug use.

These factors affect the likelihood of an athlete using anabolic steroids over their lifetime.

One risk factor that has been considered important is athletic status. In particular, there is a common belief that athletes are more susceptible to the pressures of anabolic steroid use. For example, one study completed in 1996 showed that 64% of anabolic steroid users were athletes. However, this percentage is not as high as was once believed with more recent studies showing that there is no difference in athletes and non-athletes in their likelihood of using anabolic steroids. And The thought that only athletes use anabolic steroids to improve athletic performance needs to be re-examined and studies need to be completed that fully understand the impact of anabolic steroids on the entire community, athletes and non-athletes alike. Therefore, athletic status may not be as great of a risk factor for anabolic steroid use as was once believed.

Another known risk factor for anabolic steroid use is having acquaintances or friends who use anabolic steroids. These real-life examples can make anabolic steroids seem acceptable or less dangerous. It was shown that 79% of people who admitted to anabolic steroid use also admitted to knowing someone else who used anabolic steroids,

while only 33% of non-users knew someone else who was using anabolic steroids. Peer influence can have a great effect on adolescents, as one survey revealed that 10% of males who has used anabolic steroids only did so because their friends were using anabolic steroids. Being around others using anabolic steroids can lead to peer pressure or acceptance of anabolic steroid abuse, which can in turn lead to more adolescents taking anabolic steroids.

Gender has been considered a factor for anabolic steroid use for a long time. Studies have shown consistently that men are far more likely to take anabolic steroids than women and that 0.9-2.9% of women use anabolic steroids while 3-5.4% of men use them. ^{4,7-12} One study showed that this was true in both the athletic and the non-athletic population. ⁴ While this means that men are at greater risk, it does not mean that adolescent females are risk-free.

The use of other drugs and alcohol is considered a factor in anabolic steroid use. Most studies confirmed that those who abuse alcohol and other drugs are more likely to use anabolic steroids. ^{4,7,10,11,13} One study compared the use of drugs and alcohol amongst athletes and non-athletes and found that athletes are less likely to abuse drugs and alcohol when compared to their non-athletic counterparts. In addition, coaches and athletic directors believe their athletes have less of a problem with drug abuse than the general school population. ¹⁴ It appears that those who are willing to risk their health and safety with one drug are willing to do so with other drugs.

Adolescents may have a variety of reasons for potentially using anabolic steroids.

Those involved in athletics view increased muscle mass as a means to improve athletic ability while those who simply want to change their appearance see anabolic steroids as a

way to do that without the time and effort required in the gym. Eighty four percent of users were involved in some sort of sporting activity, but as many as 27% of users were looking for purely an improvement in physical appearance. Sixty four percent of males that had used anabolic steroids wanted to be stronger. With strength being a factor in athletic performance, those athletes struggling to keep up or trying to maintain their spot on the team may look to what they believe is their last resort, anabolic steroids. Anabolic steroids also have an effect on physical appearance, which is a concern of every teenager, athlete or non-athlete. Males who take anabolic steroids typically want a leaner body build, while women who are looking for a larger body build will turn to anabolic steroids. One study demonstrated that 27% of males that had used anabolic steroids wanted to make an improvement to their physical appearance. Another study even conjectured that physical appearance reasons had more to do with anabolic steroid use than athletic performance. No matter what the reasoning is for adolescents to use anabolic steroids, users will have the same negative effects.

Anabolic Steroid Use Side Effects

Anabolic steroids can take a toll on the body as well as on the mind. There are many types of effects and these can include physical, psychological, and emotional. The physical effects of anabolic steroids can be very harmful to the body. While anabolic steroids do build muscle tissue⁸, this does not outweigh the potentially fatal outcomes. Some of these outcomes can include acne, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, and liver damage. ^{15,16} A female-only study found that the most detrimental effect for women is acute renal failure. ¹³

In addition to physical side effects, anabolic steroids can also harm a person psychologically. These effects can include irritability, euphoria, excessive aggressiveness, mood swings, and psychosis. ^{17,18} In the female population, depression and hypomania can be seen in those who abuse anabolic steroids. ¹³ These conditions can have a significant impact on that individual's life as well as the lives of those around that person.

History of Anabolic Steroid Testing

Drug testing for anabolic steroid use has existed for decades. At the collegiate setting, drug testing began in 1970 when the NCAA formed a Drug Education Committee. Then, in 1982, the University of California Los Angeles (UCLA) opened the first International Olympic Committee-certified drug-testing lab. After much research, the NCAA established a drug-testing program in 1986. 19 The purpose of NCAA anabolic steroid testing is to deter student-athletes from using performance enhancing as well as recreational drugs. The NCAA tests for anabolic steroids in order to assure fair competition and also tests for recreational drugs, such as marijuana, to protect the health and safety of the student-athlete. 20 The NCAA began testing student-athletes year-round in 1990 for certain sports. However, it was not until 2006 that the year-round testing included the summer months and all sports¹⁹. While this program was developed to deter student-athletes from using anabolic steroids, it has also had other positive effects. ²⁰ High levels of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) in the body can be caused by a tumor, as with the case of Chris Lofton, a basketball player whose positive test led to the diagnoses and treatment of his testicular cancer.²⁰

While drug testing has occurred in collegiate athletics since 1986, this is not the case for high school athletics. In 2006, New Jersey began an anabolic steroid testing protocol for teams who made it to the state-championship qualifying round, with one student-athlete testing positive that year.²¹ Florida also had a two-year pilot program that began in 2007 and received one positive test result over 2 years.²¹ Florida discontinued its anabolic steroid testing program after a lack of positive test results.²²

In the state of Texas, anabolic steroid use became a rising concern in the 2000s. For example, in 2005, nine students at Colleyville High School admitted to having used anabolic steroids. However, these cases are few and far between. There is no data that could be found to indicate an actual increase of anabolic steroid use of high school athletes in the state of Texas. However, due to the public's perception of anabolic steroid use and the stigma associated with it, news stories such as this were highly reported. Therefore, Texas high school athletics has begun to focus their attention on anabolic steroid use and prevention.

History of Senate Bill 8

When a bill is introduced in Texas, it is first sent to a committee in the chamber of origination (Senate or House of Representatives) and the committee must have a public hearing where individuals can testify regarding the bill and a debate ensues. During the debate process, persons can testify in favor or against the bill or they can register their opinion. Witnesses may also register their opinion by signing their name either for or against the bill; however they do not stand up and speak at the hearing. After this, the committee may vote to report a bill out and the bill is placed on the calendar to be taken

to the full chamber. Once on the floor, the bill it is re-read and amendments may be voted on at that time. The bill is read again, for a total of three times, and a final vote is taken. The bill then moves to the other chamber where the process is repeated to be voted on by those representatives. Once both houses approve, it is signed and sent to the governor.²⁴

In 2007, the state legislature of Texas was presented with a bill, Senate Bill 8, which called for drug testing of UIL athletes. Supporters of the bill believed it was the only way to solve the growing anabolic steroid problem in high school adolescents. Those against the bill believed that anabolic steroid use was not a problem among smaller schools and that anabolic steroid testing is ineffective at deterring anabolic steroid use. 25,26 Three people testified in favor of passing the bill and four people testified on the bill, meaning they simply stated facts and did not have a personal opinion. Six people registered for the bill but did not testify, and 2 people registered to speak about the bill but did not testify. Lastly, one person provided written testimony on the bill but gave no opinion. During the House debate, two people registered but did not testify for the bill and one person registered but did not testify on the bill. Throughout all of these proceedings, no one testified or registered against the bill.²⁷ Of the witnesses who testified for the bill, there were people who had their own experiences with steroid abuse, including one parent of a teen who had committed suicide. Individual cases such as this can influence a legislators vote even if the cases are the exceptional and not representative of data to the contrary. 28 For those voting on the bill, a vote for "no" may appear unsympathetic and therefore individual cases can be used to sway legislators since politicians would not like to appear unsympathetic.²⁷ Emotional stories of personal experiences given as testimony can influence legislators to pass bills regarding health

care issues before proper research is conducted to assure that the suggested policy is the best way to deal with the concern. In more problematic cases, a bill may be passed by legislators despite empirical evidence to the contrary of a bill's assumptions or intent. In high school athletics that means ensuring that steroid testing is the most appropriate and efficient way to prevent steroid use among high school athletes.

In the spring of 2007, Senate Bill 8 passed the Senate and then the House in Texas. This bill called for random drug testing through the UIL in all sports with all participating athletes.²³ The Texas Education Code was then changed to include random anabolic steroid testing and education of coaches.²⁹

Senate Bill 8 has many different requirements. First, all high school UIL athletes must submit to random drug testing. Approximately 3% of student-athletes from 30% of high schools under the UIL are randomly tested each year. Additionally, all coaches in grades 7-12 must undergo anabolic steroid education training⁵. This education can be the video provided by the UIL website, ³⁰ or a similar program chosen by the school district. ⁵ The Texas Education Agency is responsible for funding these anabolic steroid tests. ⁵ A fiscal note from the 80th Legislative Session noted that it would cost \$4,000,000 taxpayer dollars per year to support the program. ³¹ Lastly, any student who is prescribed anabolic steroids by a medical practitioner for a medical condition may submit an exemption. ⁵ With Senate Bill 8 passed, the state of Texas began testing its student-athletes for anabolic steroid use.

Testing began in 2007 and results have been published through fall 2010. The number of students tested ranged from 18,817 in the fall of 2008 to 2,083 in the fall of 2010. When the positive tests were converted to percentages, the lowest percentage of

positive tests was 0% in the spring of 2010 and the highest number of positive tests was 0.00064% in the fall of 2009. Given these results, either athletes are being deterred from taking anabolic steroids due the random testing or not as many students are taking anabolic steroids as was once believed.³²

Anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes received many reactions nationwide. Even though the United States Supreme Court ruled that anabolic steroid testing did not invade privacy over a decade ago, ²² some parents are still concerned not only about the lack of privacy necessary to give a valid test, but if the tests are worth the time and money spent on them.³³ One study in 2007 showed that schools that implemented drug testing did not deter students from using drugs when compared to schools that did not use drug testing.³⁴ It was also shown that random drug testing could actually lead to an increase in future risk-taking behaviors, such as drug use.³⁴ Another study that focused on illicit drug testing, but not specifically anabolic steroids, found that drug testing did effect illicit drug use in students.³⁵ There is little evidence about the effectiveness of random drug testing, however current evidence tends to show that drug testing is not an effective deterrent. ^{34,35} Another deterrent option is educational programs. The first study to look at anabolic steroid use among adolescent males found that educational programs should begin in middle school and that both athletes and nonathletes should participate in these programs.³⁶

Purpose and Necessity of Anabolic Steroid Testing

In general, there are two different rationales used to support anabolic steroid testing: 1) health and safety and 2) fair play. The stated reason of the state of Texas

anabolic steroid testing program was to discourage the use of illegal anabolic steroids, but the UIL has not been clear as to which rationale they are using for the purpose of the anabolic steroid testing program²⁶. The deterrence of anabolic steroid use could have an effect on health and safety as well as fair play, although it is unclear which rationale seems the be the main purpose of anabolic steroid testing.

Health and safety is mentioned extensively on the UIL website. Aspects included in the health and safety section of the website include adverse weather procedures, emergency medical procedures, concussion management, information about staph infections, information on lightening procedures, information on hydration, guidelines for head and neck injuries, sudden cardiac death, AED use, and anabolic steroid testing information. According to this website, "The UIL values the healthy and safety of all student-athletes." and the UIL "seeks to safeguard the health and welfare of students by requiring physical examinations for participation in athletics. However, all of these health and safety topics fall strictly under athletics and not under any other UIL activity. If research has shown that non-athletes are just as likely as athletes to use anabolic steroids, the health and safety risks posed by anabolic steroid use should be applied to all UIL participants. By that logic, all UIL participants should be tested for anabolic steroids.

The final aspect to be examined is fair play. Fair play is described as ensuring that everyone participating in an activity abides by the same rules. Therefore, if anabolic steroids were legal and accessible by everyone, then the use of anabolic steroids would not affect the fair play ideal.³⁸ However, since they are illegal, taking anabolic steroids gives that athlete and team an unfair advantage. A portion of the UIL's purpose statement focuses on developing "a sense of fair play", but it is unclear whether maintaining fair

play includes mandatory anabolic steroid testing.³⁹ Ensuring that each participant follows rules in the same manner ensures that sport is fair.⁴⁰ By only implementing anabolic steroid testing on a specific population, the testing has the effect of ensuring fair play among athletes. Each of these purposes can be attributed to anabolic steroid testing, however there is no conclusive evidence on which purpose is most prevalent.

Random anabolic steroid testing is designed to be a deterrent to prevent anabolic steroid use in adolescent athletes.²⁶ For the purpose of ensuring fair play this deterrent method seems appropriate from a theoretical perspective. However, as stated previously, evidence suggests that mandatory drug testing does not prevent anabolic steroid use, regardless of the rationale for the anabolic steroid testing policy^{34,35}. In addition, evidence shows that athletes and non-athletes are abusing anabolic steroids at a similar rate.^{4,6,7} In order to protect the health and safety of all adolescents, the UIL should examine all effective methods of deterrence and determine which would be most appropriate for all students who are at risk for anabolic steroid use.

The Role of State Policy

Senate Bill 8 required the random drug testing of high school athletes in the state of Texas.⁵ This rule was later entered into the Texas Education Code, which stated that the UIL is responsible for testing student-athletes with funds being provided by the Texas Education Agency.²⁹ The code states that in order for these tests to be statistically significant, the UIL must test 30% of high schools per year, with the sample being distributed across school size. Also included in the Texas Education Code are the mandatory drug education programs for all coaches of athletes in grades 7-12.²⁹

While Senate Bill 8 has mandated random anabolic steroid testing, the UIL is responsible for carrying out the testing. The UIL uses the National Center for Drug Free Sport in order to complete its drug testing every year. Given that the UIL conducts the testing, provides anabolic steroid education, handles positive tests, and is responsible for the entire anabolic steroid testing program, is it truly necessary for the state of Texas legislation to control anabolic steroid testing, or could anabolic steroid testing be left to the policy of the UIL, districts or school districts? During the 82nd Legislative Session in early 2011, HB 3009 had been introduced, which would have called for the removal of the drug testing protocol in Texas. This bill, however, never made it to the floor. 41

Drug-Testing Protocol

When a school is selected for drug testing, there are several steps that must be followed. First, a preselected member school representative and two (one male and one female) testing site coordinators will be notified that their school has been selected for random drug testing. Notification will be 24-48 hours before drug testing and knowledge of the testing must be kept confidential. The member school representative must provide a list of all student-athletes in grades 9-12 from which the National Center for Drug Free Sport will choose random students. The member school representative notifies the students on testing day that they must immediately report to the testing station, which has been setup by the testing site coordinators. The National Center for Drug Free Sport provides the testing crews. Testing site coordinators are allowed to give fluids to assist in the process, however diluted samples will be resampled up to three times.³²

All students must report to the testing center immediately and have photo identification. If identification is unavailable, the member school personnel can identify the student. If a student is absent and it is excused, a randomly selected substitute will be tested. If a student is absent for any other reason, it will be considered a positive test result.³²

The Role of the University Interscholastic League

The University Interscholastic League (or UIL) is an institution that has governed Texas high schools for over 100 years. The UIL was established in 1910 "to provide leadership and guidance to public school debate and athletic teachers". According to their website, "The UIL exists to provide educational extracurricular academic, athletic, and music contests". UIL member schools can compete in contests of the athletic, academic, and music nature, including, but not limited to, sports, theatre, band, and debate.

According to the UIL, their purpose "is to organize and properly supervise contests that assist in preparing students for citizenship. It aims to provide healthy, character building, educational activities carried out under rules for providing for good sportsmanship and fair play for all participants". ³⁹ The purpose of the UIL applies to all junior high and high school events in all three areas of interest; music, academics, and athletics.

The UIL governs a variety of students throughout the state. In the athletic division, sports can include baseball, basketball, cross country, football, golf, soccer, swimming and diving, team tennis, tennis, track and field, volleyball, and wrestling. The

music department includes band, marching band, concert and sight reading, state wind ensemble, solo ensemble, small ensemble and medium ensemble. The academics division includes theatre, journalism, speech and debate, A+ academics, and various contests.

These contests include accounting, calculator applications, computer applications, computer science, current issues and events, literary criticism, mathematics, number sense, ready writing, science, social studies, spelling and vocabulary, and use of laptops.

Academically, the UIL reaches more than half a million students.⁴²

Impact of Media on Health Care Legislation

Media can have a significant impact on the public's understanding of a health issue. If the media gives extra attention to a health issue it may seem to be a more important concern, and if they downplay the effects of a certain health issue the public may follow that lead. For example, alcohol abuse is common among young adults, however the media has portrayed alcohol use as a social norm and therefore some of the general public has accepted increased alcohol use a normal. The public, in general, does not tend to be health literate, meaning that they have difficulty understanding health issues and determining expert sources from other sources. Media and information resources, like the internet, can impact the general public's perceptions because they have difficulty determining the stories that are accurate in regards to health concerns. For example, fictional television shows regularly feature themes that include health care policy issues. Stories played out on television may focus on maudlin stories or dramas that are not evidence based. These can often include controversial topics and may be the only source of information that the consumer receives on the topic. In addition, news

media also affects the public's view on health care issues. In 2009, a review showed that media can have a direct affect on consumers in the health care field whether the campaigns were planned or unplanned.⁴⁶

Government representatives may be as health illiterate as the general public, so when it comes to passing laws based on health concerns decisions may be based on perceptions rather than fact Both the media and non-expert sources may be able to sway the public and government representatives more easily on health issues because the topic is something that is not fully understood by these individuals. These individuals have access to a great deal of accurate information, however they choose not to access this information, as shown in a similar problem with perceptions of food-risk. Tonsumers choose to accept what is presented to them by the media as their only source of information. For example, if there is a specific news story regarding a health concern, the public will tend to accept this news story as fact and will fail to do their own research on the issue. This can result in inaccuracies because most media outlets are privately owned and maintain their own financial agenda.

The media made cases both for and against anabolic steroid testing in the time leading up to the passing of SB 8. In 2005, a Dallas area news source posted an online article titled "The Secret Edge" that detailed the extensive anabolic steroid use in the Dallas area and the ease of obtaining anabolic steroids for high school students. Leading up to the passing of SB 8, media reports all over the state covered Senate Bill 8 and the effect it would have on the athletes of the UIL, including the possibility of testing positive by simply taking over-the-counter nutrition supplements. News sources from Lubbock, Fredericksburg, and Houston were involved in reporting this piece of

legislation. ^{49,50,51} As early as 2005, when this bill was first introduced, the idea of random anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes was dropped in exchange for an education program. At the time, the media covering this exchange promoted this as being a possible solution. This program was to be examined in 2007 and then it would be decided if steroid testing was required. ⁵⁰ In Fredericksburg, the school district shared that they would have preferred to have local control over steroid testing due to budget constraints. ⁵¹ Another article out of Houston warned of the risk of a false-positive test for students who take supplements, and detailed how the tests may see more of those results than true positive tests. ⁴⁹ These, along with dozens of additional Texas media articles, showed that throughout the state there were people both for and against this bill. These opinions, however, were not heard during debate due to the lack of witnesses against the bill.

Perceptions

The perception of media has played a major role in the state mandated anabolic steroid testing protocol. Due to the negative stigma associated with adolescent anabolic steroid use, media and supporters of anabolic steroid testing were quick to report anabolic steroid use in the state of Texas.^{23,26} It was presented as a large problem, although the results of UIL anabolic steroid testing have not shown a high rate of positive tests indicative of anabolic steroid use²⁹. Current evidence seems to show that anabolic steroid testing is not an effective deterrent.^{34,35} however supporters of anabolic steroid testing claim that anabolic steroid testing is used to prevent anabolic steroid use.²⁶

One example of media influencing attention on anabolic steroid use is the Bay Area Laboratory Co-Operative investigation. Nine people were charged with criminal acts as a result of this investigation, including Olympic gold medalist Marion Jones. This case also linked another eight people to anabolic steroid use, some of whom received suspensions. When this case was released, many big names in sports were exposed as anabolic steroid users⁵². This media attention eventually trickled down from professional sports, to collegiate athletics, to high school athletics and led to news stories that were sensationalized due to the stigma created by the media.

Conclusion

Anabolic steroid use is a problem that affects both athletic and non-athletic adolescents.^{4,6,7} Males and those who abuse drugs and alcohol are more likely to abuse anabolic steroids.^{4,7-13} Adolescents who abuse anabolic steroids are at risk for potentially dangerous side effects that can at time be fatal.^{13,15-18}

Anabolic steroid testing began in the NCAA in 1970 and became a year-round test for all sports in 2006.¹⁹ The state of Texas passed a bill in 2007 to call for the random anabolic steroid testing of all high school athletes.²³ This bill was designed to prevent the illegal use of anabolic steroids among high school student-athletes in the state of Texas.²⁶

Rationales for anabolic steroid testing include health and safety, deterrence, and fair play. While each of these has its own effect on the purpose of anabolic steroid testing, the UIL remains unclear as to what the main purpose of deterring anabolic steroid use is: health and safety or fair play. Both topics are addressed as purposes of the UIL on their website, however it is not mentioned as the purpose of the anabolic steroid testing protocol. 37,38

This study will examine the perceptions of athletic directors and athletic trainers about the purpose and effectiveness of the UIL anabolic steroid testing protocol in the state of Texas. Rationales to be examined will include health and safety and fair play. The perceptions of the necessity of state legislative involvement will also be examined. The information gained from this study should provide some additional evidence regarding the effectiveness of the program from the perspectives of the personnel that manage the mandatory anabolic steroid testing protocol.

References

- 1. Johnson MD, Jay MS, Shoup B, Rickert VI. Anabolic steroid use by male adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 1989;83(6):921-924.
- 2. Kleiner SM. Performance-enhancing aids in sport; health consequences and nutritional alternatives. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 1991;10(2):163-176.
- 3. Tanner SM, Miller DW, Alongi C. Anabolic steroid use by adolescents: prevalence, motives, and knowledge of risks. *Clin J Sports Medicine*. 1995;5(2):108-115.
- 4. Thorlindsson T, Halldorsson V. Sport, and the use of anabolic androgenic steroids among Icelandic high school students: a critical test of three perspectives. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy.* 2010;5(32):1-11.
- 5. SB 8, 80th Leg, Reg Sess (Tx 2007).
- 6. Naylor AH, Gardner D, Zaichkowsky L. Drug use patterns among high school athletes and non athletes. *Adolescence*. 2001;36(144): 627-639.
- 7. Miller KE, Hoffman JH, Barnes GM, Sabo D, Melnick MJ, Farrell MP. Adolescent anabolic steroid use, gender, physical activity, and other problem behaviors. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2005;40:1637-1657.
- 8. Pallesen S, Josendal O, Johnsen BH, Larsen S, Molde H. Anabolic steroid use in high school students. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2006;41:1705-1717.
- 9. Gaa GL, Griffith EH, Cahill BR, Leslye DT. Prevalence of anabolic steroid use among Illinois high school students. *J Athl Train*. 1996;4(3):216-222.
- 10. Irving LM, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M. Steroid use among adolescents findings from project EAT. *J Adolesc Health*. 2002;30:243-252.
- 11. Denham BE. Association between narcotic use and anabolic-androgenic steroid use among American adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2009;44:2043-2061.
- 12. Dodge TL, Jaccard JJ. The effect of high school sports participation on the use of performance-enhancing substances in young adulthood. *J Adolesc Health*. 2006;39:367-373.
- 13. Gruber AJ, Pope HG. Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolic-androgenic steroid use in women. *Psychother Psychosom*. 2000;69(1):19-26.

- 14. Shields E. Sociodemographic analysis of drug use among adolescent athletes: Observations-perceptions of athletic directors-coaches. *Adolescence*. 1995;30(120):839-861.
- 15. Kennedy MC, Lawrence C. Anabolic steroid abuse and cardiac death. *Med J Aust.* 1993;158(5):346-348.
- 16. Brower KJ, Blow FC, Beresford TP, Feulling C. Anabolic-androgenic steroid dependence. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 1989;50(1):31-33.
- 17. Pope HG, Katz DL. Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolic-androgenic steroid use: A controlled study of 160 athletes. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 1994;51(5):375-382.
- 18. Su TP, Pagliaro M, Schmidt PJ, Pickar D, Wolkowitz O, Rubinow DR. Neuropsychiatric effects of anabolic steroids in male normal volunteers. *JAMA*. 1993;260(21):2760-2764.
- 19. Key dates in NCAA drug-testing history. NCAA News Archives. http://fs.ncaa.org/Docs/NCAANewsArchive/2006/Association-wide/Key%2Bdates%2Bin%2Bncaa%2Bdrug-testing%2Bhistory%2B-%2B11-20-06%2Bncaa%2Bnews.html, Updated November 21, 2006. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 20. Keeping ahead of the cheaters. http://www.ncaa.org/wps/wcm/connect/public/NCAA/Student-Athlete+Experience/A+complete+guide+to+drug+testing. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 21. Lemire J. The screening process: A guide to testing policies, from pros to high school. *SI.com*. http://sportsillustrated.cnn.com/2008/magazine/03/11/steroid.testingpolicies/index.html. Updated March 11, 2008. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 22. Popke M. Drug wars. Athletic Business. April, 2009.
- 23. Texas drug-testing program. *Drug Free Sport Insight Newsletter*. http://www.drugfreesport.com/newsroom/insight.asp?VolID=41&TopicID=7. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 24. http://www.tlc.state.tx.us/gtli/legproc/process.html. Accessed February 18, 2012.
- 25. Cantu R. Senate passes steroid testing bill for Texas high schools: Measure would call for random testing to begin as early as this fall. http://statesman.com/news/content/region/legislature/stories/04/11/11steroids.html. Updated April 11, 2007. Accessed September 19, 2011.
- 26. House Research Organization bill analysis. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 21, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.

- 27. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8#. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 28. Denham BE. When science, politics, and policy collide: On the regulation of anabolic-androgenic steroids, steroid precursors, and "dietary supplements" in the United States. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*. 2011;35(1):3-21.
- 29. Texas Education Code. http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/ED/htm/ED.33.htm. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 30. Steroid education video. http://www.uiltexas.org/health/info/steroid-education-video. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 31. Fiscal Note, 80th Legislative Regular Session. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 26, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 32. www.uiltexas.org/health/info. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 33. Clayton V. Parents, experts divided on school drug testing. *MSNBC.com*. http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/20631668/ns/health-childrens_health/t/parents-experts-divided-school-drug-testing/#.TpIWWrYl9Rx. Updated September 21, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 34. Goldberg L, Elliot DL, MacKinnon DP, Moe EL, Kuehl KS, Yoon M, Taylor A, Williams J. Outcomes of a prospective trial of student-athlete drug testing: The student athlete testing using random notification (SATURN) study. *J Adolesc Health*. 2007;41:421-429.
- 35. Yamaguchi R, Johnston LD, O'Malley PM. Relationship between student illicit drug use and school drug-testing policies. *J Sch Health*. 2003;73(4):159-164.
- 36. Buckley WE, Yesalis CE III, Friedl KE, Anderson WA, Streit AL, Wright JE. Estimated prevalence of anabolic steroid use among male high school seniors. *JAMA*. 1988;260(23):3441-3445.
- 37. www.uiltexas.org/about. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 38. Rules and regulations. *BBC Ethics Guide*. http://www.bbc.co.uk/ethics/sport/fair/fairplay.shtml. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 39. www.uiltexas.org/about/purpose. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 40. Morgan WJ. Fair is fair, or is it?: A moral consideration of the doping wars in American sport. Sport in Society. 2006;9(2):177-198.

- 41. Texas Legislature Online. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/History.aspx?LegSess=82R&Bill=HB3009. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 42. www.uiltexas.org/academics. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 43. Baillie RK. Determining the effects of media portrayals of alcohol: Going beyond short term influence. *Alcohol Alcohol*. 1996;31(3):235-242.
- 44. McDonald, J. Public health policy: Influences on Texas legislator's understanding of public health issues. Dissertation. Published May 2006. Pages 11-35.
- 45. Turow J. As seen on TV: Health policy issues in TV's medical dramas. Menlo Park, CA: The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2002.
- 46. Grilli R, Ramsay C, Minozzi S. Mass media interventions: Effects on health services utilisation. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2009.
- 47. McCluskey J, Swinnen J. The media and food-risk perceptions. *EMPO Reports*. 2011;12(7):624-629.
- 48. Jones G, Jacobson G. The secret edge: Steroids in high school. *Dallasnews.com*. Accessed February 29, 2012.
- 49. Scharrer G. State may wait to test athletes for steroids. *Houston Chronicle*. July 15, 2007. http://www.chron.com/neighborhood/baytown-sports/article/State-may-wait-to-test-athletes-for-steroids-1844107.php?cmpid=emailarticle&cmpid=emailarticle. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 50. Lawmaker drops drug testing push in exchange for education. *Lubbock Avalanche-Journal*. April 26, 2005. http://lubbockonline.com/stories/042605/sta_042605068.shtml. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 51. Steroid testing awaiting signature. *Fredericksburg Standard Radio Post.* May 30, 2007. http://www.fredericksburgstandard.com/articles/2007/05/30/sports/04sports.txt. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 52. A look at the key figures in the BALCO steroids scandal. *USA Today*. http://www.usatoday.com/sports/olympics/2007-10-05-596366219_x.htm. Updated October 5, 2011. Accessed October 16, 2011.

CHAPTER III

METHODS

Since the purpose of this study is to understand the perceptions of athletic trainers (ATs) and athletic directors (ADs) in regards to the purpose, effectiveness and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing of high schools athletes in the state of Texas, I performed a descriptive study using a cross sectional design.

Participants

I requested that the National Athletic Trainers' Association (NATA) e-mail a cover letter and link of an online survey instrument to a stratified, randomly generated list of 914 NATA "regular certified" members and "associate members" working in a high school setting in the state of Texas. I sampled both certified and associate members to include both licensed and certified athletic trainers working in the state of Texas in the secondary school setting. Using the July 2011 NATA membership statistics, I identified that there were 572 certified members employed in a high school or clinic outreach setting in the district 6 (D6) region (Texas and Arkansas). In addition, there were 342 associate members in D6. When totaled, the population working in a secondary setting was 914 athletic trainers. To have 95% confidence and 5% error rate, I needed to sample 270 athletic trainers. Since the typical response rate for online surveys is 30%, I administered questionnaires to 900 athletic trainers to ensure an adequate sample size. ¹

For ADs, I used a random number calculator to generate the list of ADs that will be sampled. I used the 2011-2012 Texas Sports Guide of High Schools and Colleges to gather the names and emails of all ADs currently employed in the state of Texas. There were 1,497 Texas high schools listed in the book in alphabetical order. Numbers generated from a random number calculator were used to select schools from the book and the athletic director of that school was contacted. To have 95% confidence and 5% error rate, I needed to sample 306 athletic directors. Since the typical response rate for online surveys is 30%, I administered questionnaires to 1,020 athletic directors.

The participants were instructed via a cover letter that they imply consent by completing the survey instrument, and the study was reviewed and approved by the principle investigator's university Institutional Review Board before the project began. All information was kept confidential and personal identifiers were not used.

Instrument

I developed a survey instrument to establish and understand perceptions of ATs and ADs in regards to the purpose, effectiveness and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing of high schools athletes in the state of Texas. The survey contained five sections: 1.) questions that address the perceived purpose of mandatory anabolic steroid testing in the state of Texas, 2.) questions that address the perceived effectiveness of mandatory anabolic steroid testing in the state of Texas, 3.) questions that address the perceived necessity of state regulated mandatory anabolic steroid testing, and 4.) questions that address the perceived understanding of Senate Bill 8, and 5.) questions obtaining participant demographics. Most questions were created and scaled with Likert

responses while some questions (i.e. demographics) used categorical and ranking type responses. The demographic questions used categorical and ranking type responses. The survey was developed using a table of specifications (see table 1). Questions that address the perceived purpose of the mandatory anabolic steroid testing included questions surround two perceived purposes: 1.) health and safety and 2.) fair play in athletics. Questions that address the perceived necessity of state involvement in mandatory anabolic steroid testing examined whether ADs and ATs perceive that legislative involvement is necessary in anabolic steroid testing and regulation. I adjusted the language of the questions so that they apply to each respondent. For example, questions were worded "As an athletic trainer, I believe..." or "As an athletic director, I believe..."

Table 1. Table of Specifications

Content Area	Purpose of Question	Number of
		Questions
Purpose and	General effectiveness	5
effectiveness of	State of Texas program effectiveness	4
mandatory anabolic	Purpose as perceived by participant	2
steroid testing and	Participant's perception of the state of Texas	2
education programs	Legislature's purpose	
from 2 rationales		
(Health and safety, fair		
play)		
Necessity	Necessity of the regulation of anabolic steroid	4
	testing	
Senate Bill 8	Perceptions regarding SB 8	7
Demographics	Job title, school size, years of employment,	8
	years with current employer, geographic	
	location, full time/part time, number of ATs at	
	school, UIL school representative	

Validity

I assessed the content validity of the survey with two subject matter experts who judged the questions fit to the intended purpose of the questions. One was an expert in

health-related bills and the legislative process and the other was an expert in anabolic steroid abuse. The experts examined the content of each individual question to ensure that the questions were applicable to this topic, appropriate for the subjects to answer, and specific to the intended purpose of the question based on the table of specifications. The experts approved that there were no questions that were inappropriate and changes we made some modifications to several questions to improve question clarity based on feedback from the experts. I also met with high school athletic trainers (n=3) and athletic directors (n=3) individually to discuss the survey instrument to assess the survey's face validity. During the meeting, I discussed each item of the instrument. The discussion resolved any problems that practicing athletic trainers or athletic directors perceive with the instrument's format, language, word usage, and/or question clarity. The instrument was modified based on feedback from the group.

Data Collection

Participants were asked to access the online survey hosted by SNAP Surveys (Snap Surveys Ltd, Thornbury, Bristol BS35 3UW, UK). A six-week window was given to participants to access and complete the survey. A reminder letter was sent to all participants two weeks after the initial email, as well as 4 weeks after the initial email.³ Participants were allowed to withdraw from the survey at any time and allowed to skip questions without any penalty.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated on the data using SPSS (version 18.0; SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). Likert-style questions were considered endorsed when "agree" or "strongly agree" was the answer choice chosen by the subject. Data resulting from the Likert-style questions are reported as percentage endorsed and shown in Tables 3-8. Tables 9-10 show answers to categorical questions regarding methods and responsibility for preventing anabolic steroid use.

References

- 1. Survey random sample calculator. http://www.custominsight.com/articles/random-sample-calculator.asp. Accessed October 10, 2011.
- 2. 2011-2010 Texas Sports Guide of High Schools and Colleges. 57th ed. Canutillo, TX: Western Sports Guides; 2011.
- 3. Fowler FJ. Survey Research Methods. 4^{th} ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2009.

CHAPTER IV

MANUSCRIPT

Introduction

In 2007, the Texas Legislature passed Senate Bill 8 (SB 8). This bill called for the random anabolic steroid testing all Texas high school athletes due to increased concerns about anabolic steroid use. Senate Bill 8 has many different requirements. First, all high school UIL athletes must submit to random drug testing. Approximately 3% of student-athletes from 30% of high schools under the UIL are randomly tested each year. Additionally, all coaches in grades 7-12 must undergo anabolic steroid education training. This education can be the video provided by the UIL website, or a similar program chosen by the school district. The Texas Education Agency is responsible for funding these anabolic steroid tests.

Studies have shown consistently that 0.9-2.9% of women and 3-5.4% of men use anabolic steroids. 4-9 Athletes and non-athletes abuse anabolic steroids at an equal rate. The difference between the two groups is that athletes use anabolic steroids for performance enhancement reasons while non-athletes seek to improve their appearance with anabolic steroids. 4,10,11 Risk factors associated with anabolic steroid abuse include other high-risk behaviors, such as drug and alcohol abuse, as well as gender. 4,6,10,12 Men are much more likely to abuse anabolic steroids than women. 4-10 Given the negative side effects that

anabolic steroids have on the body^{10,12-14}, it is important that the deterrence of anabolic steroid use among adolescents is examined.

Anabolic steroid testing has been performed in the NCAA since 1986.¹⁵ At the high school level, however, only a few states perform random anabolic steroid tests on their athletes. At some point, Florida, New Jersey, and Texas have all had a form of anabolic steroid testing. Texas is the only remaining state to perform random anabolic steroid testing on their student-athletes year round.¹⁶ Limited experimental research has been conducted on the effectiveness of mandatory anabolic steroid testing. Some research has shown that mandatory anabolic steroid testing, in general, does not decrease anabolic steroid use in adolescents, and may actually lead to future anabolic steroid abuse by those tested.^{17,18} Education programs about anabolic steroid use have been shown to be more effective, particularly programs that are conducted in a peer-to-peer format.¹⁹

There are many different factors that contributed to the debate about anabolic steroid use and prevention when Senate Bill 8 was on the Senate floor. Stories of individuals who had used anabolic steroids and had negative effects could have swayed the general public and legislators to believe that anabolic steroid abuse was a problem in the state of Texas. For example, stories like that of Taylor Hooton, a high school student who committed suicide in 2003, could be found in the media. At the same time, anabolic steroid abuse scandals, such as the BALCO cases and trials, were being highly publicized. Legislators and the public, in general, tend to be health illiterate when it comes to policy, meaning that they have difficulty understanding health issues and determining expert sources from other sources. Both the media and non-expert sources

may be able to sway the public and government representatives more easily on health issues because the topic is not fully understood by these individuals.²²

In the case of Senate Bill 8, not a single person throughout the legislative proceedings testified or registered against the bill.²³ Of the witnesses who testified for the bill, there were people who had their own experiences with steroid abuse, including one parent of a teen who had committed suicide. Individual cases such as this can influence a legislators vote even if the cases are exceptional and not representative of data to the contrary.²⁴ For those voting on the bill, a vote for "no" may appear unsympathetic and therefore individual cases can be used to sway legislators since politicians would not like to appear unsympathetic.²³ Emotional stories of personal experiences given as testimony can influence legislators to pass bills regarding health care issues before research is conducted to assure that the suggested policy is the best way to deal with the concern. In more problematic cases, a bill may be passed by legislators despite evidence to the contrary of a bill's assumptions or intent. According to interviews conducted by the *Austin-American Statesman*, those who supported the bill believed it was the only way to solve the perception of a growing anabolic steroid problem.²⁵

Each year anabolic steroid testing is funded out the of the Texas Education Association (TEA) general education fund costing taxpayers approximately \$4,000,000 dollars per year.² The number of positive tests per semester in the state of Texas since 2007 have ranged from 0.0-0.00064%.²⁶ In 2007, the annual budget for this program was \$4 million.²⁷ There were two positive tests that year.²⁸ Currently, the annual budget is down to \$750,000 with one positive test reported in 2011.^{29,30} The cost per positive test ranges between \$750,000 and \$2 million. With the five-year anniversary of the bill

approaching, it is important to examine the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of the program so decisions can be made about the future of the program.

This study was conducted to understand the perceived purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of the UIL anabolic steroid testing protocol from the views of athletic trainers and athletic directors. These participants were chosen because of their close proximity to the student-athletes as well as the implementation of the anabolic steroid testing protocol. This information, along with other factors (cost, effectiveness, and practicality) can be helpful in informing the legislature and the public about the success of the policy and possible changes during the allowed re-evaluation of funding that could improve future anabolic steroid deterrence among high school athletes in the state of Texas.

Methods

Participants

To sample the athletic trainers (ATs), we used the July 2011 National Athletic Trainer's Association (NATA) membership statistics. We identified that there were 572 certified members employed in a high school or clinic outreach setting in the district 6 (D6) region (Texas and Arkansas). In addition, there were 342 associate members in D6. When totaled, the population working in a secondary setting was 914 ATs. In order to have 95% confidence, 5% error rate, and anticipating a 30% response rate, we requested a random sample of 900 ATs' emails from the NATA.³¹

For the sample of athletic directors (ADs), we used the 2011-2012 Texas Sports Guide of High Schools and Colleges to gather the names and emails of all ADs currently employed in the state of Texas. There were 1,497 Texas high schools listed in the book in

alphabetical order.³² Numbers generated from a random number calculator were used to select schools from the book and the AD of that school was contacted. To have 95% confidence and 5% error rate, we needed to sample 306 ADs. Since the typical response rate for online surveys is 30%, we sampled 1,020 ADs.³¹

Study Design

We used a cross sectional, survey research design to examine our research question. Participants were asked to access the online survey hosted by SNAP Surveys (Snap Surveys Ltd, Thornbury, Bristol BS35 3UW, UK). A six-week window was given to participants to access and complete the survey. A reminder letter was sent to all participants two weeks after the initial email, as well as 4 weeks after the initial email. Participants were allowed to withdraw from the survey at any time and allowed to skip questions without any penalty.

Survey Instrument

We developed a survey instrument to establish and understand perceptions of ATs and ADs in regards to the purpose, effectiveness and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing of high schools athletes in the state of Texas. The survey contained five sections: 1.) questions that addressed the perceived purpose of mandatory anabolic steroid testing in the state of Texas (n=4), 2.) questions that addressed the perceived effectiveness of mandatory anabolic steroid testing as well as anabolic steroid education programs(n=9), 3.) questions that addressed the perceived necessity of state regulated mandatory anabolic steroid testing (n=4), 4.) questions that addressed the perceived understanding of Senate Bill 8 (n=7), and 5.) questions that obtained participant demographics (n=8). Most questions were created and scaled with Likert responses

while some questions (i.e. all demographics and 3 non-demographics) used categorical and ranking type responses. The survey was developed using a table of specifications (see table 1). Questions that addressed the perceived purpose of the mandatory steroid testing examined the two perceived purposes commonly cited as the rationales for anabolic steroid testing: 1.) health and safety and 2.) fair play in athletics. Questions that addressed the perceived necessity of state involvement in mandatory steroid testing examined whether ADs and ATs perceive that legislative involvement is necessary in steroid testing and regulation. We adjusted the language of the questions so that they apply to each set of respondents. For example, questions were worded "As an athletic trainer, I believe..." or "As an athletic director, I believe..."

We assessed the content validity of the survey with two subject matter experts who judged the questions fit to the intended purpose of the questions. One was an expert in health-related bills and the legislative process and the other was an expert in anabolic steroid abuse. The experts examined the content of each individual question to ensure that the questions were applicable to this topic, appropriate for the subjects to answer, and specific to the intended purpose of the question based on the table of specifications. The experts approved that there were no questions that were inappropriate and we made some modifications to several questions to improve question clarity based on feedback from the experts. The primary investigator (KC) also met with high school ATS (n=3) and ADs (n=3) individually to discuss the survey instrument to assess the survey's face validity. During the meeting, each item of the instrument was discussed. The discussion resolved any problems that practicing ATs or ADs perceived with the instrument's format,

language, word usage, and/or question clarity. The instrument was modified based on feedback from the ATs and ADs.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated using SPSS statistical software (version 18.0; SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). Likert-style questions were considered endorsed when "agree" or "strongly agree" was the answer choice chosen by the participants. Data resulting from the Likert-style questions are reported as percentage endorsed (see tables 3-8). Tables 9-10 show answers to categorical questions regarding methods and responsibility for preventing anabolic steroid use.

Results

One hundred forty ATs (15.6% response rate) and 187 ADs (18.3% response rate) completed the survey. ADs were fairly distributed throughout Texas geographic locations and school sizes. ATs were fairly distributed throughout Texas geographic locations, however most respondents were at a 3A or larger school. 42.9% of ATs currently had an anabolic steroid education program at their school while 35.8% of ADs did as well. Table 2 lists all demographic characteristics of the respondents.

Perceptions of Primary Purpose of Anabolic Steroid Testing

The majority of both ATs (73.6%) and ADs (86.6%) stated that they personally believed that the primary purpose of state mandated anabolic steroid testing should be health and safety. However many ATs (66.4%) and ADs (68.1%) also stated that the primary purpose of anabolic steroid testing should be to ensure fair play. Fewer ATs (62.1%) and ADs (67.7%) believed the legislative intent of the mandatory anabolic

steroid testing was for the athlete's health and safety while even fewer ATs (57.1%) and ADs (56.5%) believed the legislative intent was to ensure fair play (see table 4).

Perceptions of the Effectiveness of Anabolic Steroid Testing and Anabolic Steroid

Education

A small number of ATs (21.5%) and ADs (31.6%) believe that anabolic steroid testing, in general, is effective. An even smaller amount of ATs (19.3%) and ADs (28.6%) believed that anabolic steroid testing in the state of Texas prevents anabolic steroid use among high school athletes. A limited number of ATs (22.8%) and ADs (5.0%) believed that anabolic steroid use was a problem in their high school prior to anabolic steroid testing. Of those few who believed that anabolic steroid use was a problem at their school, a small minority of ATs (19.6%) and ADs (33.3%) believe that anabolic steroid use has decreased since the implementation of random anabolic steroid testing in 2007. Lastly, a small amount of ATs (1.4%) and ADs (5.9%) believe that anabolic steroid testing alone is the most effective method for preventing anabolic steroid use.

In regards to anabolic steroid education, a greater number of ATs (49.3%) and ADs (65.6%) believed adult led education programs were effective. Peer-to-peer programs were also perceived as effective by both ATs (54.3%) and ADs (60.8%). On the contrary, very few ATs (18.6%) and ADs (37.1%) believed the current UIL coaches education program effectively prevents anabolic steroid use amongst high school athletes.

Perceptions of Legislative Involvement in Anabolic Steroid Testing of High School

Athletes

Only a small number of ATs (3.6%) and ADs (2.7%) believed that the Texas Legislature should be responsible for regulations anabolic steroid testing or anabolic steroid education programs in high school athletics. Most ATs (49.3%) and ADs (41.7%) believed that the UIL should be responsible for regulation anabolic steroid testing. Most ATs (51.4%) believed that the UIL should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid education programs, while most ADs (44.4%) believed that individual school districts should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid education programs. Also, few ATs (27.1%) and ADs (20.3%) believe that legislators reviewed high-quality research prior to passing Senate Bill 8. A majority of ATs (90.6%) and ADs (92.5%) believed that the opinions of those in their own profession should have been considered when debating Senate Bill 8.

Discussion

The purpose of this survey was to determine the perceptions of ATs and ADs regarding the UIL mandatory random anabolic steroid testing protocol. We found few studies regarding random anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes from the perspective of adults who are directly involved in the process of administering the tests, as well as involved with student-athletes on a daily basis.

More ATs and ADs believe that health and safety should be the primary purpose of random anabolic steroid testing when compared to ensuring fair play. The same was true for the beliefs of ATs and ADs about the legislative intent of random anabolic

steroid testing. Interestingly, both health and safety of the athlete, as well as ensuring fair play, were believed to be the legislative intent by both ATs and ADs. This means that some ATs and ADs believed that both rationales (health and safety as well as ensuring fair play) should be the primary purpose of random anabolic steroid testing, and that both rationales described the legislative intent of random anabolic steroid testing. Therefore, the perceived purpose of random anabolic steroid testing does not fall under one rationale or the other, but is rather a combination of both rationales. The UIL does not identify with one rationale or another in regards to random anabolic steroid testing.³⁴ Athletes tend to abuse anabolic steroids at the same rate as non-athletes^{4,10,11}, so the rationale chosen is significant. Based on the patterns of anabolic steroid use, ^{4,10,11} if the UIL is using anabolic steroid testing to deter from steroid use to protect the health and safety of students, then all student in the UIL (band, athletics, theatre, etc.) should be subject to random anabolic steroid testing. Interestingly, ATs and ADs did not believe that all members of the UIL should be tested. However, if the UIL is deterring anabolic steroid use for the purpose of ensuring fair play amongst student-athletes, then the UIL should make that known to the public and the state so the most efficient form of anabolic steroid testing can be used. Although the incidence of anabolic steroid abuse is low (3-5.4% of men and 0.9-2.9% of women), 4-10 other risk factors for anabolic steroid use include gender, with males being more likely to abuse anabolic steroids, and a previous history of abusing other drugs or alcohol. 4-10,12

The majority of ATs and ADs do not believe that anabolic steroid testing is an effective deterrent against anabolic steroid use. This belief applies to both the general idea of mandatory anabolic steroid testing as well as the protocol specific to high school

athletes in Texas as mandated by SB 8. Our findings align with research that random anabolic steroid testing has not been shown to be an effective deterrent to anabolic steroid use. ^{17,18} Furthermore, most ATs and ADs stated that they did not believe that anabolic steroid use was a problem among their students, their athletes, Texas students, or Texas athletes. The beliefs of our participants are supported by studies that show anabolic steroid abuse rates to be low among men and women. ⁴⁻¹⁰ Supporters of SB 8 were anxious to have some deterrent in place for the prevention of anabolic steroid use and believed that anabolic steroid testing was the best method. ²⁵ Legislators, as well as the general public, need to be better educated on the lack of evidence that supports random anabolic steroid testing, as well as introduced to the evidence in support of anabolic steroid education in order to determine the most effective method of deterring anabolic steroid use.

ATs believed that adult-led anabolic steroid education programs are effective for preventing anabolic steroid use. About the same number of ATs also believe that peer-to-peer anabolic steroid education programs are effective. ADs also believe both programs to be effective, however slightly more ADs perceived adult-led anabolic steroid education programs to be effective. Neither ATs nor ADs found the UIL coaches anabolic steroid education program to be effective. The UIL, under the SB 8 mandate, requires that all coaches in grades 7-12 undergo anabolic steroid education training. This education can be the video provided by the UIL website² or a similar program chosen by the school district. This is the only required form of education about anabolic steroid use and is directly aimed at coaches but not athletes. ATs thought that the UIL should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid education programs while athletic directors

believed that individual school districts should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid education programs. Peer-to-peer education programs have been shown to be more effective than adult-run education programs, however both are an effective deterrence from anabolic steroid use. Although there is limited research on the effectiveness of anabolic steroid education programs, education programs have been proven to be effective among other health issues, including tobacco prevention and cessation. Athletic trainers, athletic directors, legislators, and the general public should be educated on the effectiveness of both peer-to-peer anabolic steroid education programs as well as adult-run anabolic steroid education programs. Given the ATs and ADs beliefs about the effectiveness of the current education program and research findings in favor of peer to peer education, the required form of anabolic steroid education may need to be reassessed, modified, and targeted directly to athletes.

In the state of Texas, ATs and ADs do not believe that the Texas Legislature should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid testing or anabolic steroid education programs. The Texas Legislature took this responsibility upon themselves in 2007 with the passing of Senate Bill 8 (SB 8).² SB 8 called for the random anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes in the state of Texas.² This rule was later entered into the Texas Education Code, which state that the UIL is responsible for testing student-athletes with funds being provided by the Texas Education Agency.³⁸ When the Legislature assumed this responsibility, they also assumed the responsibility of educating themselves on research related to anabolic steroid testing. The majority of ATs and ADs, however, do not believe that legislators reviewed high-quality research prior to passing SB 8. The general public as well as legislators tend to accept media portrayals regarding a specific

health issue, instead of researching the topic on their own.²² While there is not a great deal of research regarding anabolic steroid testing and education programs in adolescents, the current research^{17,18,19} leans towards the idea that anabolic steroid education is more effective and preventing anabolic steroid use than random anabolic steroid testing. Other education programs (such as tobacco prevention) have also been proven to be effective.^{36,37} While the legislative body is responsible for regulating these programs, they could allow more flexibility in changes to anabolic steroid prevention. The UIL should be given the authority to make these decisions as more research becomes available without having to go through the legislative body.

In regards to SB 8, ATs and ADs believed that legislators passed this bill based on pressure from its community and constituents. However a greater portion of ATs and ADs believed that legislators passed this bill based on media portrayals of anabolic steroid use in athletics. Around this time, the BALCO trial was in the media and other news sources were covering anabolic steroid use from the professional level to the high school level. ^{21,39-42} When the public and legislators alike received information regarding health care legislation, including information from the media, they typically do not perform their own research to back up those claims ²², so the media is able to have much more control over what is being discussed during the hearing for health care legislation when compared to legislation regarding topics about which legislators have more knowledge. Athletic trainers and athletic directors can use media outlets to their advantage in the future by completing grassroots efforts and public promotions that show that current research is suggesting that anabolic steroid education programs are a better method of preventing anabolic steroid use over anabolic steroid testing.

Implications for Future Research

There have only been two experimental studies performed assessing the effectiveness of mandatory random anabolic steroid testing. Future research should investigate the effectiveness of mandatory random anabolic steroid testing, especially on adolescent athletes to produce a body of knowledge. Future research should also examine the effectiveness of anabolic steroid education programs as a deterrent to anabolic steroid use, and both adult-led programs and peer-to-peer programs need to be further examined.

The media played a role in the decision to pass SB 8.^{4,21,39-42} More research should be conducted on the effect of media on health care legislation. Also, more research needs to be conducted on the extent that legislators educate themselves on health care legislation before voting on a specific bill.

Conclusion

This study was a preliminary examination of the perceptions of ATs and ADs regarding random anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes, specifically in the state of Texas. It was found that ATs and ADs do not perceive random anabolic steroid testing to be an effective deterrent to anabolic steroid use. It was also found that ATs and ADs believe that education programs are an effective deterrent to anabolic steroid use. ATs and ADs believe that Legislatures should have reviewed more high-quality research before passing SB 8. Lastly, ATs and ADs did not believe that the Texas Legislature should be responsible for regulating either random anabolic steroid testing or anabolic steroid education programs for high school athletes.

As we approach the five-year mark of the passing of SB 8, it may be time to re-examine this policy. Positive test rates over the last five years have ranged from 0-0-0.0064% of student-athletes tested for anabolic steroid use. Anabolic steroid testing, in general, has not been shown to be an effective deterrent to anabolic steroid use. Education programs preventing anabolic steroid use, on the other hand, have been shown to be an effective deterrent. SB 8 allows for a re-examination of funding, so this funding could be allocated to education programs that are more effective and efficient than the current anabolic steroid testing protocol. This is significant to Texas because a re-evaluation of SB 8 could lead to a decrease in funding necessary to deter anabolic steroid use while simultaneously having an increase in practicality and effectiveness of the program used with student-athletes.

References

- 1. House Research Organization bill analysis. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 21, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 2. SB 8, 80th Leg, Reg Sess (Tx 2007).
- 3. Steroid education video. http://www.uiltexas.org/health/info/steroid-education-video. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 4. Miller KE, Hoffman JH, Barnes GM, Sabo D, Melnick MJ, Farrell MP. Adolescent anabolic steroid use, gender, physical activity, and other problem behaviors. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2005;40:1637-1657.
- 5. Irving LM, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M. Steroid use among adolescents findings from project EAT. *J Adolesc Health*. 2002;30:243-252.
- 6. Denham BE. Association between narcotic use and anabolic-androgenic steroid use among American adolescents. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2009;44:2043-2061.
- 7. Pallesen S, Josendal O, Johnsen BH, Larsen S, Molde H. Anabolic steroid use in high school students. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2006;41:1705-1717.
- 8. Gaa GL, Griffith EH, Cahill BR, Leslye DT. Prevalence of anabolic steroid use among Illinois high school students. *J Athl Train.* 1996;4(3):216-222.
- 9. Dodge TL, Jaccard JJ. The effect of high school sports participation on the use of performance-enhancing substances in young adulthood. *J Adolesc Health*. 2006;39:367-373.
- 10. Thorlindsson T, Halldorsson V. Sport, and the use of anabolic androgenic steroids among Icelandic high school students: a critical test of three perspectives. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy.* 2010;5(32):1-11.
- 11. Naylor AH, Gardner D, Zaichkowsky L. Drug use patterns among high school athletes and non athletes. *Adolescence*. 2001;36(144): 627-639.
- 12. Gruber AJ, Pope HG. Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolic-androgenic steroid use in women. *Psychother Psychosom.* 2000;69(1):19-26.
- 13. Kennedy MC, Lawrence C. Anabolic steroid abuse and cardiac death. *Med J Aust*. 1993;158(5):346-348.
- 14. Brower KJ, Blow FC, Beresford TP, Feulling C. Anabolic-androgenic steroid dependence. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 1989;50(1):31-33.

- 15. Key dates in NCAA drug-testing history. *NCAA News Archives*. http://fs.ncaa.org/Docs/NCAANewsArchive/2006/Association-wide/Key%2Bdates%2Bin%2Bncaa%2Bdrug-testing%2Bhistory%2B-%2B11-20-06%2Bncaa%2Bnews.html, Updated November 21, 2006. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 16. Lemire J. The screening process: A guide to testing policies, from pros to high school. *SI.com*. http://sportsillustrated.cnn.com/2008/magazine/03/11/steroid.testingpolicies/index.html. Updated March 11, 2008. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 17. Goldberg L, Elliot DL, MacKinnon DP, Moe EL, Kuehl KS, Yoon M, Taylor A, Williams J. Outcomes of a prospective trial of student-athlete drug testing: The student athlete testing using random notification (SATURN) study. *J Adolesc Health*. 2007;41:421-429.
- 18. Yamaguchi R, Johnston LD, O'Malley PM. Relationship between student illicit drug use and school drug-testing policies. *J Sch Health*. 2003;73(4):159-164.
- 19. Buckley WE, Yesalis CE III, Friedl KE, Anderson WA, Streit AL, Wright JE. Estimated prevalence of anabolic steroid use among male high school seniors. *JAMA*. 1988;260(23):3441-3445.
- 20. Texas may test for steroids in high school. *CBS News*. http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2007/05/29/health/main2861011.shtml?source=RSSattr=Health 2861011. Updated February 11, 2009. Accessed October 5, 2011.
- 21. A look at the key figures in the BALCO steroids scandal. *USA Today*. http://www.usatoday.com/sports/olympics/2007-10-05-596366219_x.htm. Updated October 5, 2011. Accessed October 16, 2011.
- 22. McDonald, J. Public health policy: Influences on Texas legislator's understanding of public health issues. Dissertation. Published May 2006. Pages 11-35.
- 23. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8#. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 24. Denham B E. When science, politics, and policy collide: On the regulation of anabolic-androgenic steroids, steroid precursors, and "dietary supplements" in the United States. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*. 2011;35(1):3-21.
- 25. Cantu R. Senate passes steroid testing bill for Texas high schools: Measure would call for random testing to begin as early as this fall. http://statesman.com/news/content/region/legislature/stories/04/11/11steroids.html. Updated April 11, 2007. Accessed September 19, 2011.

- 26. www.uiltexas.org/health/info. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 27. Fiscal Note, 80th Legislative Regular Session. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 26, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 28. www.uiltexas.org/steroid-info. Accessed September 5, 2011.
- 29. No cheaters in latest HS steroid tests. *KXAN.com*. Updated July 29, 2010. http://www.kxan.com/dpp/news/local/no-cheaters-in-latest-hs-steroid-tests. Accessed April 3, 2012.
- 30. Vertuno J. Steroid testing survives budget cuts. *KXAN.com*. Updated May 23, 2011. http://www.kxan.com/dpp/sports/steriod-testing-survives-budget-cuts. Accessed April 3, 2012.
- 31. Survey random sample calculator. http://www.custominsight.com/articles/random-sample-calculator.asp. Accessed October 10, 2011.
- 32. 2011-2010 Texas Sports Guide of High Schools and Colleges. 57th ed. Canutillo, TX: Western Sports Guides; 2011.
- 33. Fowler FJ. Survey Research Methods. 4th ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2009.
- 34. House Research Organization bill analysis. http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/BillLookup/Text.aspx?LegSess=80R&Bill=SB8. Updated May 21, 2007. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 35. Steroid education video. http://www.uiltexas.org/health/info/steroid-education-video. Accessed September 25, 2011.
- 36. Public education campaigns are effective. Updated November 15, 2007. www.tobaccofreecenter.org. Accessed April 3, 2012.
- 37. Riordan M. Public education campaigns reduce tobacco use. Updated March 12,2012. www.tobaccofreecenter.org. Accessed April 3, 2012.
- 38. Texas Education Code. http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/ED/htm/ED.33.htm. Accessed October 9, 2011.
- 39. Jones G, Jacobson G. The secret edge: Steroids in high school. *Dallasnews.com*. Accessed February 29, 2012.

- 40. Scharrer G. State may wait to test athletes for steroids. *Houston Chronicle*. July 15, 2007. http://www.chron.com/neighborhood/baytown-sports/article/State-may-wait-to-test-athletes-for-steroids-1844107.php?cmpid=emailarticle&cmpid=emailarticle. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 41. Lawmaker drops drug testing push in exchange for education. *Lubbock Avalanche-Journal*. April 26, 2005. http://lubbockonline.com/stories/042605/sta_042605068.shtml. Accessed February 5, 2012.
- 42. Steroid testing awaiting signature. *Fredericksburg Standard Radio Post.* May 30, 2007. http://www.fredericksburgstandard.com/articles/2007/05/30/sports/04sports.txt. Accessed February 5, 2012.

Table 2. Participant Characteristics

	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
Variable —	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
Sex		
Male	87 (62.1)	178 (95.2)
Female	53 (37.9)	9 (4.8)
Work Experience		, ,
0-5 years	40 (28.6)	7 (3.7)
6-10 years	26 (18.6)	13 (7.0)
11-15 years	25 (17.9)	30 (16.0)
16-20 years	13 (9.3)	38 (20.3)
20+ years	36 (25.7)	99 (52.9)
School Classification	, ,	` ,
1A or below	1 (0.7)	44 (23.5)
2A	6 (4.3)	24 (12.8)
3A	22 (15.7)	37 (19.8)
4A	40 (28.6)	42 (22.5)
5A	71 (50.7)	40 (21.4)
Job Title		
Head Athletic Trainer	79 (56.4)	n/a
Associate Athletic Trainer	6 (4.3)	n/a
Assistant Athletic Trainer	23 (16.4)	n/a
Athletic Trainer	32 (22.9)	n/a
Athletic Director	n/a	91 (48.7)
Associate Athletic Director	n/a	2 (1.1)
Assistant Athletic Director	n/a	2 (1.1)
Athletic Director & Coach	n/a	57 (30.5)
Athletic Coordinator	n/a	35 (18.7)
Geographic Location		
West Texas	17 (12.1)	25 (13.4)
South Texas	24 (17.1)	51 (27.3)
Central Texas	23 (16.4)	36 (19.3)
East Texas	31 (22.1)	28 (15.0)
North Texas	45 (32.1)	33 (17.6)
Texas Panhandle		14 (7.5)
My school currently provides an	60 (42.9)	67 (35.8)
anabolic steroid education program		
for students		
Texas Panhandle My school currently provides an mabolic steroid education program	, ,	14 (7.5)

Table 3. Endorsed Beliefs Regarding the Primary Purpose of State Mandated Anabolic Steroid Testing in all UIL Sanctioned Interscholastic Athletes

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
Should be to improve "health and safety"	103 (73.6)	162 (86.6)
Should be to ensure "fair play"	93 (66.4)	126 (68.1)

Table 4. Endorsed Beliefs of the Legislative Intent for State Mandated Anabolic Steroid Testing in all UIL Sanctioned Interscholastic Athletes

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
"Health and safety"	87 (62.1)	126 (67.7)
"Fair play"	80 (57.1)	105 (56.5)

Table 5. Endorsed Beliefs of the Effectiveness of Anabolic Steroid Prevention Education Programs at Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use Amongst UIL Student Athletes

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
Student anabolic steroid prevention programs instructed by adults are effective	69 (49.3)	122 (65.6)
Peer-to-peer anabolic steroid prevention programs could be effective	76 (54.3)	93 (60.8)
State mandated anabolic steroid education programs for UIL coaches effectively prevents anabolic steroid use	26 (18.6)	69 (37.1)

Table 6. Endorsed Beliefs of the Effectiveness of Anabolic Steroid Testing at Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use Amongst UIL Student Athletes

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
Anabolic steroid testing, in general, prevents anabolic steroid use	29 (21.5)	56 (31.6)
Anabolic steroid use was occurring in my high school prior to UIL anabolic steroid testing	45 (22.8)	9 (5.0)
Anabolic steroid use in my high school has decreased since	9 (19.6)	5 (33.3)
UIL anabolic steroid testing was implemented	26 (19.3)	53(28.6)
Anabolic steroid testing in the state of Texas prevents anabolic steroid use among high school athletes	20 (20 1)	<i>55</i> (21.0)
All UIL participants (music, academics, and athletics) should be required to undergo anabolic steroid testing	38 (28.1)	57 (31.0)

Table 7. Endorsed Beliefs of Anabolic Steroid Use as a Problem Among High School Athletes

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
I believe that anabolic steroid use is a problem		
Among Texas high school students	11 (7.9)	8 (4.3)
Among Texas interscholastic athletes	18 (12.9)	27 (14.5)
Among high school students at my school	4 (2.9)	3 (1.6)
Among interscholastic athletes at my school	3 (2.2)	3 (1.6)

Table 8. Endorsed Beliefs of Senate Bill 8

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
Legislative intent was to prevent anabolic steroid use	109 (77.9)	134 (71.7)
Legislators reviewed high-quality research prior to passing Senate Bill 8	38 (27.1)	38 (20.3)
Legislators passed Senate Bill 8 primarily under pressure from its community/constituents	91 (65.0)	93 (50.0)
Legislators passed Senate Bill 8 primarily based on media portrayals of anabolic steroid use in athletics	106 (75.7)	137 (74.1)
The opinion of those in my profession should have been considered when debating Senate Bill 8	126 (90.6)	173 (92.5)

Table 9. Beliefs Regarding Methods for Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
The following method is most effective for preventing anabolic steroid use		
Education Program	54 (38.6)	81 (43.3)
Anabolic Steroid Testing	2 (1.4)	11 (5.9)
Education program + anabolic steroid testing	75 (53.6)	84 (44.9)
None of the above	6 (4.3)	9 (4.8)

Table 10. Beliefs Regarding Responsibility for Preventing Anabolic Steroid Use

Variable	Frequency, Percentage n (%)	
	AT (n=140)	AD (n=187)
Which institution is responsible for regulating anabolic steroid testing		
Texas Legislature	5 (3.6)	5 (2.7)
The UIL	69 (49.3)	78 (41.7)
Individual School Districts	40 (28.6)	67 (35.8)
I don't believe it is necessary to regulate anabolic steroid testing	20 (14.3)	25 (13.4)
None of the above	5.00	40 (7.0)
Which institution is responsible for regulating anabolic steroid education programs	5 (3.6)	10 (5.3)
Texas Legislature		
The UIL	5 (3.6)	5 (2.7)
Individual School Districts	72 (51.4)	81 (43.3)
I don't believe it is necessary to regulate anabolic	52 (37.1)	83 (44.4)
steroid testing	7 (5.0)	13 (7.0)
None of the above		
	3 (2.1)	3 (1.6)

APPENDIX A

ATHLETIC DIRECTORS' COVER LETTER

Dear Athletic Director,

You are being invited to participate in a research study examining the perceptions of athletic trainers and athletic directors regarding the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing protocol of all high school athletes in Texas. This study is being conducted by Kristina Creinin ATC, LAT, CES, a graduate student in the M.S. in Athletic Training program at Texas State University.

You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you are an athletic director working in a high school setting in the state of Texas.

There are no known risks if you decide to participate in this research study. There are no costs to you for participating in the study. The information you provide will be used to understand the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes. The questionnaire will take about 10 minutes of time to complete. The information collected may not benefit you directly, but the information gathered in this study, in addition to other factors, will help in informing the public and legislature about the success of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing policy. By participating, you will have the option to be entered into a raffle for one of three \$25.00 Visa gift cards. Entry into the raffle will include entering your email address, however this link will not be linked to your answers.

This survey is anonymous. We will not collect IP addresses and the information is encrypted; however we cannot guarantee absolute anonymity over the internet. No one will be able to identify you or your answers, and no one will know whether or not you participated in the study. Should the data be published, no individual information will be disclosed.

By clicking on the link, you are voluntarily agreeing to participate. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason. You may opt out of the survey by selecting the link to opt out. If you have any questions about the study, please contact Kristina Creinin at (956) 459-4711 or at KC1537@txstate.edu, or Dr. Luzita Vela at (512) 245-1971.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research subject or if you feel you've been placed at risk, you may contact the Texas State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) by phone at (512) 245-2314, or by e-mail at ospirb@txstate.edu.

APPENDIX B

ATHLETIC TRAINERS' COVER LETTER

Dear Fellow Athletic Trainer,

You are being invited to participate in a research study examining the perceptions of athletic trainers and athletic directors regarding the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing protocol of all high school athletes in Texas. This study is being conducted by Kristina Creinin ATC, LAT, CES, a graduate student in the M.S. in Athletic Training program at Texas State University.

You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you are an athletic trainer working in a high school setting in the state of Texas.

There are no known risks if you decide to participate in this research study. There are no costs to you for participating in the study. The information you provide will be used to understand the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of mandatory anabolic steroid testing of high school athletes. The questionnaire will take about 10 minutes of time to complete. The information collected may not benefit you directly, but the information gathered in this study, in addition to other factors, will help in informing the public and legislature about the success of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing policy. By participating, you will have the option to be entered into a raffle for one of three \$25.00 Visa gift cards. Entry into the raffle will include entering your email address, however this link will not be linked to your answers.

This survey is anonymous. We will not collect IP addresses and the information is encrypted; however we cannot guarantee absolute anonymity over the internet. No one will be able to identify you or your answers, and no one will know whether or not you participated in the study. Should the data be published, no individual information will be disclosed.

By clicking on the link, you are voluntarily agreeing to participate. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason. You may opt out of the survey by selecting the link to opt out.

If you have any questions about the study, please contact Kristina Creinin at (956) 459-4711 or at KC1537@txstate.edu, or Dr. Luzita Vela at (512) 245-1971.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research subject or if you feel you've

been placed at risk, you may contact the Texas State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) by phone at (512) 245-2314, or by e-mail at ospirb@txstate.edu.

This student survey is not approved or endorsed by NATA. It is being sent to you because of NATA's commitment to athletic training education and research.

Please click the following link to begin the survey: https://snap.txstate.edu/snapwebhost/surveylogin.asp?k=132397669077

Sincerely,

Kristina Creinin, ATC, LAT, CES Texas State University KC1537@txstate.edu

APPENDIX C

ATHLETIC DIRECTORS' SURVEY

Thank you for agreeing to participate. The purpose of this survey is to examine your perceptions regarding the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing program of University Interscholastic League (UIL) high school athletes in Texas. This survey should take approximately 10 minutes to complete. Please answer each question as candidly as possible. Thank you for your time.

The first set of questions will elicit your perceptions about the <u>purpose</u> of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing protocol in Texas high school athletics.

N = neither agree nor disagree
D = disagree
SD = strongly disagree
(circle one)
1. I <u>personally</u> believe that the *primary purpose* of the state of Texas mandated anabolic steroid testing program should be to improve the "bealth and safety"

1. I <u>personally</u> believe that the *primary purpose* of the state of Texas mandated anabolic steroid testing program should be to improve the "health and safety" of all UIL sanctioned interscholastic athletes.

SA A N D SD

SA = strongly agree

A = agree

2. My perception is that the <u>legislative intent</u> regarding the *primary purpose* of the state mandated anabolic steroid testing is to improve the "health and safety" of all UIL sanctioned interscholastic athletes.

SA A N D SD

3. I <u>personally</u> believe that the *primary purpose* of the state of Texas mandated anabolic steroid testing should be to **ensure fair play** in UIL interscholastic athletics.

	SA	A	N	D	SD				
state	4. My perception is that the <u>legislative intent</u> regarding the <i>primary purpose</i> of the state mandated anabolic steroid testing is to ensure fair play amongst all UIL sanctioned interscholastic athletes.								
	SA	Α	N	D	SD				
				_	our perceptions about the <u>effectiveness of</u> cational programs.				
A = ag N = ne D = di	strongly gree either a sagree strongly	gree no	_	ree					
(circle	e one)								
by ad	ults (ex.	coach,	athleti	c direct	teroid prevention education programs instructed tor, athletic trainer, etc.) are effective at nongst UIL student-athletes.				
	SA	A	N	D	SD				
team	6. I believe that peer-to-peer anabolic steroid prevention education programs (ex. team captain, senior-level students, etc.) could be effective at preventing anabolic steroid use amongst UIL student-athletes.								
	SA	Α	N	D	SD				
	es effec				d anabolic steroid education program for UIL olic steroid use among Texas high school student				
	SA	A	N	D	SD				
anab	This set of questions will elicit your perceptions about the <u>effectiveness of</u> anabolic steroid testing programs in general, as well as the effectiveness of anabolic steroid testing within the state of Texas.								

SA = strongly agree

A = agree N = neither agree nor disagree

D = disagree

SD = s	trongly	disagr	ee								
(circle	one)										
8. I be	8. I believe that anabolic steroid testing, in general, prevents anabolic steroid use.										
	SA	Ä	N	D	SD						
	9a. I believe there was anabolic steroid use among student-athletes at my high school prior to state-mandated anabolic steroid testing. TrueFalse								1		
	If FALSE, SKIP TO 10. IF TRUE: b. I believe that anabolic steroid use in my high school's UIL athletes has decreased since the mandatory anabolic steroid testing policy has been implemented.										
		SA	A	N	D	SD					
			-				_	n the sta c athleto		exas prev	rents
	SA	Α	N	D	SD						
					its (mus ed anab				thletics	s) should	be
	SA	A	N	D	SD						
	12. Which of the following methods do you believe is the most effective option for preventing anabolic steroid use among adolescent athletes? (check one) Education program Anabolic steroid testing Education program + anabolic steroid testing No method is needed to prevent anabolic steroid use Other										
				_	-	_		out the i state o		ity of the s.	

SA = strongly agree A = agree N = neither agree nor disagree

D = disagree

(adual a le le N				
(circle one)				
13. I believe students.	e anabo	lic ster	oid use	e is a problem among all <u>Texas</u> high school
SA	A	N	D	SD
14. I believe athletes.	e anabo	lic ster	oid use	e is a problem among <u>Texas</u> interscholastic
SA	Α	N	D	SD
15. I believe my high sch		nabolic	steroio	d use is an overall problem among all <u>students in</u>
SA	Α	N	D	SD
		1 11	ctarnic	3 5 1.1.1 8 8
in my high s SA	school. A	N	D	d use is a problem among interscholastic athletes SD
SA This set of a SB 8 was per a set of	A A questio assed in eroid t	N ons will n 2007 esting	D elicit y and, o of all U	
SA This set of a SB 8 was per a set of	A question assed in eroid to at unde	N ons will on 2007 esting erstand e	D elicit y and, o of all U ding yo	SD your perceptions regarding Senate Bill 8 (SB 8). once enacted, required the mandatory random UIL athletes in the state of Texas. These questions
SA This set of a SB 8 was performed of the strong of the	A question assed in eroid to at unde	N ons will on 2007 esting erstand e	D elicit y and, o of all U ding yo	SD your perceptions regarding Senate Bill 8 (SB 8). once enacted, required the mandatory random UIL athletes in the state of Texas. These questions
SA This set of a SB 8 was per a strong and a strong a st	A question assed in eroid to at under ly agree agree re ly disage	N ons will n 2007 esting erstand e or disa gree	D elicit y and, o of all U ding yo agree	SD your perceptions regarding Senate Bill 8 (SB 8). once enacted, required the mandatory random UIL athletes in the state of Texas. These questions

	SA	Α	N	D	SD			
	elieve t				_	l by legislators primarily under pressure		
	SA	A	N	D	SD			
					s passed in athle	l by legislators primarily based on media etes.		
	SA	A	N	D	SD			
	oelieve t debatii		-		ADs sho	uld have been considered by legislators		
	SA	A	N	D	SD			
	i d testi Tex The Ind I do	ng in h cas Legi e UIL ividual on't bel	igh sch islature school	ool inte distric s neces	erschola cts	ald be responsible for regulating anabolic astic athletics? (check one) regulate anabolic steroid testing.		
	23. Which institution do you believe should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid education programs for high school interscholastic athletes? Texas Legislature The UIL Individual school districts I don't believe it is necessary to regulate anabolic steroid education programs. None of the above							
	graphi e check			proprio	ıte ansı	ver.		
24. W	Ath Ass Ass Ath	lletic Di sociate di sistant di lletic Di lletic Co		c Direct Direct & Coac	tor or	he most appropriate		

25. What is your school classification?1A or below2A3A4A5A
26. How many years have you worked in this career?0-56-1011-1516-2020+
27. What is your geographic location within the state of Texas? West TexasCentral TexasEast TexasNorth TexasTexas PanhandleOther
28. My school requires an anabolic steroid education program for students. TrueFalse
29. My gender is:MaleFemale
30. I have been previously employed as an athletic trainer. TrueFalse
31. I have previously been employed as a coachTrueFalse

APPENDIX D

ATHLETIC TRAINERS' SURVEY

Thank you for agreeing to participate. The purpose of this survey is to examine your perceptions regarding the purpose, effectiveness, and necessity of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing program of University Interscholastic League (UIL) high school athletes in Texas. This survey should take approximately 10 minutes to complete. Please answer each question as candidly as possible. Thank you for your time.

The first set of questions will elicit your perceptions about the <u>purpose</u> of the state-mandated anabolic steroid testing protocol in Texas high school athletics.

N = neither agree nor disagree D = disagree SD = strongly disagree
(circle one)
1. I personally believe that the primary purpose of the state of Texas ma

1. I <u>personally</u> believe that the *primary purpose* of the state of Texas mandated anabolic steroid testing program should be to improve the "health and safety" of all UIL sanctioned interscholastic athletes.

SA A N D SD

SA = strongly agree

A = agree

2. My perception is that the <u>legislative intent</u> regarding the *primary purpose* of the state mandated anabolic steroid testing is to improve the "health and safety" of all UIL sanctioned interscholastic athletes.

SA A N D SD

3. I <u>personally</u> believe that the *primary purpose* of the state of Texas mandated anabolic steroid testing should be to **ensure fair play** in UIL interscholastic athletics.

	SA	Α	N	D	SD				
state	4. My perception is that the <u>legislative intent</u> regarding the <i>primary purpose</i> of the state mandated anabolic steroid testing is to ensure fair play amongst all UIL sanctioned interscholastic athletes.								
	SA	Α	N	D	SD				
	This set of questions will elicit your perceptions about the <u>effectiveness of</u> anabolic steroid prevention educational programs.								
A = ag $N = nG$ $D = di$	SA = strongly agree A = agree N = neither agree nor disagree D = disagree SD = strongly disagree								
(circle	e one)								
by adı	ılts (ex.	coach,	athletic	c direct	teroid prevention education programs instructed tor, athletic trainer, etc.) are effective at nongst UIL student-athletes.				
	SA	Α	N	D	SD				
team (6. I believe that peer-to-peer anabolic steroid prevention education programs (ex. team captain, senior-level students, etc.) could be effective at preventing anabolic steroid use amongst UIL student-athletes.								
	SA	Α	N	D	SD				
	es effec				d anabolic steroid education program for UIL olic steroid use among Texas high school student-				
	SA	A	N	D	SD				
<u>anab</u>	This set of questions will elicit your perceptions about the <u>effectiveness of</u> anabolic steroid testing programs in general, as well as the effectiveness of anabolic steroid testing within the state of Texas.								

SA = strongly agree A = agree N = neither agree nor disagree

	sagree trongly	disagr	'ee					
(circle	e one)							
8. I be	8. I believe that anabolic steroid testing, in general, prevents anabolic steroid use.							
	SA	A	N	D	SD			
	9a. I believe there was anabolic steroid use among student-athletes at my high school prior to state-mandated anabolic steroid testingTrueFalse							
	If FALSE, SKIP TO 10. IF TRUE: b. I believe that anabolic steroid use in my high school's UIL athletes has decreased since the mandatory anabolic steroid testing policy has been implemented.							
		SA	Α	N	D	SD		
	elieve t lic ster					roid testing in the state of Texas prevents thletes.		
	SA	A	N	D	SD			
			-	-	-	sic, academics and athletics) should be polic steroid testing.		
	SA	A	N	D	SD			
	SA A N D SD 12. Which of the following methods do you believe is the most effective option for preventing anabolic steroid use among adolescent athletes? (check one) Education program Anabolic steroid testing Education program + anabolic steroid testing No method is needed to prevent anabolic steroid use Other							

This set of questions will elicit your perceptions about the necessity of the mandatory anabolic steroid testing program in the state of Texas.

SA = strongly A = agree N = neither a D = disagree SD = strongly	igree n	or disag	gree				
(circle one)							
13. I believe students.	anabol	ic stero	id use i	is a problem among all <u>Texas</u> high school			
SA	A	N	D	SD			
14. I believe athletes.	anabol	ic stero	id use i	is a problem among <u>Texas</u> interscholastic			
SA	A	N	D	SD			
15. I believe my high scho		abolic s	steroid	use is an overall problem among all students in			
SA	A	N	D	SD			
16. I believe in my high so		abolic s	steroid	use is a problem among interscholastic athletes			
SA	A	N	D	SD			
This set of questions will elicit your perceptions regarding Senate Bill 8 (SB 8). SB 8 was passed in 2007 and, once enacted, required the mandatory random anabolic steroid testing of all UIL athletes in the state of Texas. These questions are aimed at understanding your perceptions of the passing of SB 8.							
SA = strongly A = agree N = neither a D = disagree SD = strongly	igree n	or disag	gree				

17. I believe that the Texas Legislature intended to prevent anabolic steroid use

(circle one)

when athleti		ssed Se	enate Bi	ill 8, wl	nich mandated anabolic steroid testing in UIL		
	SA	A	N	D	SD		
18. I believe that legislators reviewed high-quality research before Senate Bill passed.							
	SA	A	N	D	SD		
			nate Bill /constit		passed by legislators primarily under pressure		
	SA	Α	N	D	SD		
					passed by legislators primarily based on media in athletes.		
	SA	A	N	D	SD		
			opinio te Bill 8		Ts should have been considered by legislators		
	SA	A	N	D	SD		
	22. Which institution do you believe should be responsible for regulating anabolic steroid testing in high school interscholastic athletics? (check one) Texas Legislature The UIL Individual school districts I don't believe it is necessary to regulate anabolic steroid testing. None of the above						
	d educ Tex The Indi I do progra	ation r as Legi UIL ividual n't beli ims.	orograi slature school	ns for l	ve should be responsible for regulating anabolic high school interscholastic athletes? ts sary to regulate anabolic steroid education		

Demographic questions.
Please check the most appropriate answer.

24. What is your job title? Please choose the most appropriateHead Athletic TrainerAssociate Athletic TrainerAssistant Athletic Trainer
Athletic Trainer
Other
25. What is your school classification?
1A or below
2A
3A
4A
5A
26. How many years have you worked in the high school setting?
0-5 6-10
0-10 11-15
16-20
20+
27. What is your geographic location within the state of Texas?
West Texas
South Texas
Central Texas
East Texas
North Texas
Texas Panhandle
Other
28. My school requires an anabolic steroid education program for students.
True
False
29. My gender is:
Male
Female

VITA

Kristina Lynn Creinin was born in Mesa, Arizona, on May 10, 1988, the daughter

of Arnold Ira Creinin and Kelly Jean Creinin. After graduating from Los Fresnos High

School, Los Fresnos, Texas, in 2006, she entered the University of Texas at Austin. In the

summer of 2009, she studied abroad in Australia with George Mason University, Fairfax,

Virginia. She received the degree of Bachelor of Science in Athletic Training from the

University of Texas at Austin in May 2010. She entered into the Graduate College of

Texas State in August 2010.

Permanent Address: kcreinin@gmail.com

This thesis was typed by Kristina L. Creinin.

i			